

Photon Energy N.V.

# **Financial Statements**

for the year ended 31 December 2019

# **Contents**

Directors' report	58
Developments in 2019	58
Total liabilities	58
Financial instruments and risk management	<b>59</b>
Sovereign risk	59
Operational risk	59
Currency risk	60
Credit risk	60
Liquidity risk	60
Interest risk	60
COVID-19 risk Selected indicators	60 61
Research and development	61
Personnel	61
Strategy for 2020 and beyond	61
Subsequent events	<b>62</b>
Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended	
31 December 2019	65
Consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the year ended 31 December	66
Consolidated statement of financial position as at 31	00
December	67
Consolidated statement of changes in equity for the	
year ended 31 December	68
Consolidated statement of cash flows for the year	
ended 31 December	69
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for the year	
ended 31 December 2019	71
1. Reporting entity	72
2. Basis of preparation	72
2.1 Statement of compliance 2.2 Basis of measurement	72 72
2.3 Functional currency	72 72
2.4 Use of estimates and judgments	72
,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,	73
3. Application of new and revised EU IFRSs 3.1 New and revised EU IFRSs affecting amounts	/3
reported in the current year (and/or prior years)	73
3.2 New and revised IFRSs in issue but not yet	
effective	73
Amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8	73
4. Significant accounting policies	74
4.1 Basis of consolidation	74
4.1.1 Business combinations	74
4.1.2 Subsidiaries	74
4.1.3 Special purpose entities	74
4.1.4 Loss of control	74
4.1.5 Investments in associates and jointly controlled	
entities (equity-accounted investees)	74
4.1.6 Transactions eliminated on consolidation	75
4.2 Foreign currency	75
- •	

4	.2.1	Foreign currency transactions	75
4	.2.2	Foreign operations	75
4	.2.3	Borrowing costs	75
4.3	Fin	ancial instruments	75
4	.3.1	Non-derivative financial assets	75
4	.3.2	Non-derivative financial liabilities	76
4	.3.3	Share capital	76
		Derivative financial instruments	76
	_	pperty, plant and equipment	76
	.4.1	Recognition and measurement	76
	.4.2	Depreciation	77
4.5		ventories	77
		pairment	77
		n-current assets held for sale or distribution	77
		pvisions	77
		Warranties	77
4.9	Re	venue	77
	.9.1	Goods sold	77
4	.9.2	Services	78
4	93	Sale of electricity	78
		ance income and finance costs	78
		come tax	78
		rnings per share	79
		gment reporting	79
	4 Lea		79
5.	Dete	ermination of fair values	80
5.1		pperty, plant and equipment	80
5.2	Inv	ventories	81
5.3	Tra	ade and other receivables	81
5.4	No	n-derivative financial liabilities	81
6.	Fina	ncial risk management	81
6.1	Ris	k management framework	81
6.2	So	vereign Risk	81
6.3	Ор	erational risk	81
6.4		rrency risk	82
6.5	-	edit risk	82
6.6		uidity risk	82
6.7		erest risk	82
7.	Ope	rating segments	84
8.	Curr	ent assets held for sale	89
9.	inter	visitions of subsidiary and non-controlling rests; financial information for the joint ures and associates	90
9.1		ablishment of new subsidiaries	90
9.2		quisitions of subsidiaries	90
9.3		ancial information for the joint ventures and	
ass	ociat	es	91
10.	Reve	nue	93
11.	Cost	of sales	93
11.	1 Sol	lar levv	93

<b>12.</b>	Other income	94
13.	Other expenses	94
14.	Administrative and personnel expenses	94
15.	Finance income and finance costs	95
16.	Income tax expense	95
16	.1 Income tax recognized in profit or loss	95
16	.2 Income tax recognized in other comprehensive income	95
16	.3 Reconciliation of effective tax rate	96
17.	Property, plant and equipment	97
18.	Deferred tax assets and liabilities	99
19.	Inventories	101
20.	Trade and other receivables	101
21.	Cash and cash equivalents	102
22.	Capital and reserves	102
23.	Earnings per share	104
24.	Loans and borrowings	105
25.	Trade and other payables	106
26.	Other long-term and short-term liabilities	107
	.1 Other long term liabilities	107
26	.2 Other short term liabilities	108
26	.3 Current tax liability	108
27.	Financial instruments	109
27	.1 Liquidity Risk	109
27	.2 Credit risk	110
27	.3 Interest rate risk	111
27	.4 Exchange rate risk	113
27	.5 Accounting classifications and fair values	114
28.	Related parties	116
28	.1 Parent and ultimate controlling party	116
<b>2</b> 9.	Group entities	118
30.	Subsequent events	122

31. Contingent assets and liabilities	122
Standalone Financial Statements for the 31 December 2019	e year ended 123
Company balance sheet as at 31 Dece	mber 2019 124
Company income statement for the fi	nancial year
ended 31 December 2019	124
Notes to the Company Financial Statem year ended 31 December 2019	ents for the 125
32. General	126
33. Principles for the measurement of	
liabilities and the determination of	
34. Financial fixed assets	126
9.2 Acquisitions of subsidiaries	129
35. Loans	131
36. Current assets	131
37. Shareholders' equity	132
37.1 Reconciliation of movement in c	apital and
reserves	132
37.2 Share capital and share premiun	n 133
38. Long-term liabilities	134
39. Current liabilities	134
40. Financial instruments	135
40.1 General	135
40.2 Fair value	135
41. Share in results from participating	interests 135
42. Fees of the auditor	135
43. Related parties	136
43.1 Transactions with key managem	ent personnel 136
Other information	138
I. Provisions in the Articles of Asso	-
overning the appropriation of pr	
II. Subsidiaries	138
III. Independent auditor's report	138





# **Directors' report**

The directors present their report together with the annual financial statements of Photon Energy N.V. (the "Company") for the year ended 31 December 2019.

Photon Energy N.V. (the "Company") is a joint-stock company incorporated under the laws of the Netherlands on 9 December 2010. The statutory seat of the Company is Barbara Strozzilaan 201, 1083HN Amsterdam. The consolidated financial

statements of the Company as at and for the year ended 31 December 2019 comprise the Company and its subsidiaries (together referred to as the "Group" and individually as "Group entities") and the Group's interest in associates and jointly controlled entities.

The company is controlled by the following shareholders:

In shares	No. of shares	% of capital
Solar Future Cooperatief U.A.	22,266,166	37.11%
Solar Power to the People Cooperatief U.A.	20,843,375	34.74%
Photon Energy N.V.	8,834,409	14.72%
Free float	8,056,050	13.43%
Total	60,000,000	100.00%

The Board of Directors consists of the Directors Mr. Georg Hotar and Mr. Michael Gartner.

# **Developments in 2019**

#### Result

The total equity attributable to the owners of the Company as at 31 December 2019 amounts to EUR 37,926 thousand (2018: EUR 29,819 thousand). The total result for the year 2019 amounts to a loss of EUR 726 thousand (2018: profit EUR 510 thousand).

#### Revenues and cost of sales

Revenues in 2019 increased to EUR 30,154 thousand compared to 2018, when the revenues amounted to EUR 20,256 thousand. In 2019, cost of sales increased to 13,823 thousand from EUR 5,539 thousand in the financial year 2018.

The increase in revenues is a result of higher revenues in all the segments except of others and PV investments.

The gross profit margin equalled to 51% in 2019 compared to 68% in 2018. The lower margin in 2019 is mainly a consequence of higher cost of sales coming from the revenue growth of less profitable technology and engineering sales compared to electricity production.

#### Financial income and expenses

Financial income and expenses consist mainly of interest expense. The other part of financial income and expenses represents the result from revaluation of swaps, interest income, Fx losses/gains and bank fees.

#### Other comprehensive income

Other comprehensive income includes mainly positive impact of revaluation of PPE (positive effect of EUR 8,549 thousand coming from the newly connected power plants in Hungary), positive change in currency translation reserve of EUR 231 thousand and change in the derivatives reserve (positive impact of EUR 10 thousand).

#### Non-current assets

The increase in fixed assets compared to 2018, is mainly influenced by the put in use and the revaluation of the powerplants in Hungary compensated by the annual depreciation.

#### **Current assets**

Current assets increased in 2019 compared to 2018, from EUR 23,856 thousand to EUR 31,786 thousand. This increase was influenced mainly by higher cash, higher trade and other receivables, and higher work in progress.

#### **Total liabilities**

The total liabilities include primarily:

- 1) Loans and borrowings
- 2) Trade payables
- 3) Bond related liability

Long-term liabilities increased by EUR 19,963 thousand. The main driver of this increase was the increase in the bank loans coming from the new borrowings in Hungary and the increase of the EUR Bond. Total bank loans increased from EUR 32,936 thousand to EUR 41,238 thousand. Bond liability increased by EUR 7,584 thousand. The Group's current payables increased mainly due higher trade and other payables (from EUR 8,459 thousand to EUR 12,348 thousand).

# Financial instruments and risk management

In 2019, financial instruments were only used to mitigate risks and were not used for trading purposes. We refer to the notes in the financial statements for more details about the company's financial instruments.

#### **Principle risks**

The Group has exposure to the following risks:

- Credit risk,
- Sovereign
- Liquidity risk,
- Operational risk,
- Currency risk,
- Interest risk,
- Market risk.

In the notes to the consolidated financial statements, information is included about the Group's exposure to each of the above risks, the Group's objectives, policies and processes for measuring and managing risk, and the Group's management of capital.

#### Sovereign risk

The Company's results can be adversely affected by political or regulatory developments negatively impacting on the income streams of projects in the portfolio. A number of countries have already succumbed to retroactive measures reneging on existing agreements, guarantees and legislation by imposing levies, cancelling contracts or renegotiating terms unilaterally or by other measures reducing or in the worst case cancelling Feed in Tariffs for renewable energy investments. Legal remedies available to compensate investors for expropriation or other takings may be inadequate. Lack of legal certainty exposes projects in the portfolio to increased risk of adverse or unpredictable actions by government officials, and also makes it more difficult for us to enforce existing contracts. In some cases these risks can be partially offset by agreements to arbitrate disputes in an international forum, but the adequacy of this remedy may still depend on the local legal system to enforce the award.

## Operational risk

The economic viability of energy production using photovoltaic power plants installations depends on Feed-in-Tariff (FiT) systems. The FiT system can be negatively affected by a number of factors including, but not limited to, a reduction or elimination in the FiT or green bonus per KWh produced, an elimination or reduction of the indexation of the FiT and a shortening of the period for which the FiT applies to photovoltaic installations. On the investment side the Company faces uncertainty in relation to the approval process for the construction of photovoltaic installations, grid connection and the investment cost per KWp

of installed capacity. The operating and financial results of the Company can be seriously affected by a sudden or significant change in the regulatory environment in each of the countries where the Company or its subsidiaries conduct business.

During the fourth quarter of 2010, the Czech parliament and the Czech government approved several changes in the legal framework governing certain aspects of the photovoltaic and other industries. Those changes included mainly: (i) a 3 years solar levy, newly introduced into the Czech tax system, of 26% on the revenues of photovoltaic power plants above 30kW of installed capacity, completed in the years 2009 and 2010, (ii) the abolishment of a six-year corporate income tax exemption for photovoltaic power plants, and (iii) a tenfold increase of the contractual fees previously agreed between the photovoltaic power plant operators and the state Land Fund for the extraction of certain classes of land from the state fund.

In September 2013, additional prolongation of the solar levy was approved. The percentage was decreased to 10% and applicability of this tax prolonged till end of the useful economic life of the power plants. The Company reflected this change in the DCF models for Czech SPVs already as of 30 September 2013. The fair value decrease was reflected in the value of assets, related deferred tax and other comprehensive income in 2013 financial statements.

After opting for its Czech power plants for the green bonus scheme in the years 2016 and 2017, the Group reconsidered this approach and applied again for the feed-in-tariff scheme in 2018 and further in 2019.

Since 2013 several investigations relating to the issuance of the energy production license of the PV power plant of Photon Energy SPV 11 s.r.o. (SPV 11) have been conducted, always coming to the conclusion that the license had been issued legitimately. At the beginning of 2018 criminal charges were filed against two former subcontractors of the EPC provider of SPV 11 and as of August 2018 the difference of the feed in tariff 2010 and 2011 is withheld by ČEZ Prodej a.s. In total this amounts to EUR 1,016 thousand (CZK 25.820 thousand) of revenues, which is shown as trade receivables in the financial statements as of 31.12.2019. In December 2019 one of the two accused subcontractors was already acquitted and after the reporting period the court ruled to pay back the withheld amount, which happened on 24 March 2020. A ruling for the second subcontractor is expected in the upcoming months. Management is not aware of any fact that neither the issuance of the license had been not lawful nor that such reassessment would not come to the same result of the lawfulness of the feed in tariff 2010. Therefore, neither in 2018 nor 2019 provisions have been made in the financial statements.

On 30 June 2019, KORADOL AG took over the bank financing for Photon SPV 11 s.r.o. and the company shares from Raiffeisen

Leasing s.r.o. The original bank loan debt is now owed to the new owner Koradol AG.

#### **Currency risk**

The Group is exposed to a currency risk on sales, purchases and borrowings that are denominated in a currency other than the respective functional currencies of Group entities.

The transactions of the Group entities are denominated in CZK, EUR, AUD, CHF, and HUF mainly. There is no financial hedging used by the company against the currency risk. Company's management does not formally monitor the FX positions.

#### **Credit risk**

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet its contractual obligations, and arises principally from the Group's receivables from customers, including the electricity distributors.

#### Trade and other receivables

The Group's exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by individual characteristics of each customer. However, management also considers the demographics of the Group's customer base, including the default risk of the industry and country in which customers operate, as these factors may have an influence on credit risk. In most cases, the Company requires advance payments (partial or 100%) for the delivery of electricity in order to minimise the credit risk. Additionally, in case of new customers, the company looks for market references of the potential customers that are available in public resources. The collections are regularly monitored by the responsible employees and any significant overdue receivables are discussed with the management of the company. Management of the company is responsible for the decision whether allowance is to be created or any other steps need to be performed.

#### Cash and cash equivalents

The Group held cash and cash equivalents of EUR 15,104 thousand at 31 December 2019 (2018: EUR 12,340 thousand), which represents its maximum credit exposure on these assets. The cash and cash equivalents are held with banks and financial institution counterparties. Only those banks and financial institutions, which were approved by the members of the board of directors, can be used by the company.

Cash held by the SPVs under legal ownership of Raiffeisen Leasing s.r.o. (RL) is restricted only for certain transactions, e.g. loan and related interest provided to those SPV's by Photon Energy N.V. is subordinated to the loan from RL and will be paid only after the repayment of the RL loan. Total amount of the cash owned by these SPVs is EUR 2,737 thousand as at 31 December 2019 (2018: EUR 4,634 thousand).

# Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter difficulty in meeting the obligations associated with its financial liabilities

that are settled by delivering cash or another financial asset. The Group's approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Group's reputation.

#### Interest risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in market interest rates. It is measured by the extent to which changes in market interest rates impact on net interest expense. The Company uses interest rate derivatives for managing the interest rate risk.

Slovak SPVs, consolidated in full or by using the equity method by the Group, own interest rate derivatives used for hedging. The purpose of the derivatives is to hedge against movement of interest rates. Concluding the derivative contract was one of conditions required by financing bank as defined in the Loan contract.

The change in fair value of these derivatives is recognized via equity of the Company and the result is shown in Derivatives reserve of the Company's equity since 1 January 2012. Until then, the change in fair value of the derivatives was recorded to profit and loss.

The Czech SPVs own interest rate derivatives. Concluding the derivative contract was one of conditions required by the financing bank as defined in the Loan contract. The change in value of these derivatives is recognized via Profit and loss as they do not meet criteria for the hedging derivatives.

The refinanced Hungarian SPVs own interest rate derivatives. Concluding the derivative contract was one of conditions required by the financing bank as defined in the Loan contract.

#### **COVID-19 risk**

COVID-19 risk is the risk the pandemic of the Corona virus may have on the business activity of the Group. With the outbreak of the Corona virus the Group has implemented continuity plans as well as health and safety procedures to ensure that all employees and contractors are safe and compliant with government directives. In particular, the electricity generation segment of 69 PV power plants with a total installed capacity of 57.1 MWp is producing electricity as usual. For all five Hungarian PV power plants under construction with a total installed capacity of 3.5 MWp, all components, including photovoltaic modules, have been secured and these projects are expected to be gridconnected without significant delays. The Operations & Maintenance business, is capable of providing its services either from home-offices, and if necessary, on-site as far as possible. The other business lines such as EPC services, PV component trading and project development are more vulnerable to these exceptional circumstances but did not come to a stall. In all main markets of the Group highly skilled local teams remaining focused on minimizing the impact on the ongoing business as well as various growth initiatives. The extent of the negative impact will depend on the further nature and length of measures taken by the respective governments in the countries where the Group is active.

Management believes the risk management procedures are sufficient within the Group and the risk management approach does not have to be improved or changed.

#### **Capital management**

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the return to stakeholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The Group's overall strategy will unwind accordingly to the further negotiations with the Group's creditors.

The Group's net debt to adjusted equity ratio at the reporting date was as follows:

In thousand of EUR	2019	2018
Total liabilities	100,421	76,569
Less: cash and cash equivalents	15,104	12,340
Net debt	85,317	64,229
Total equity	37,843	29,779
Net debt to adjusted equity ratio at 31 December	2.25	2.16

There were no changes in the Group's approach to capital management during the year.

#### **Selected indicators**

#### Debt to assets ratio (total liabilities/total assets)

- **2019: 0.73**
- **2018: 0.72**

# Debt to equity ratio (total liabilities/shareholders'equity)

- **2019: 265**
- **2018: 2.58**

#### Current ratio (current assets/current liabilities)

- **2019: 2.57**
- **2018**: 2.77

Debt to equity slightly worsened in 2019 compared to 2018 due to higher total liabilities (higher long term bank loans and bond volume).

# **Research and development**

The Company does not perform any material research and development activities.

#### **Personnel**

During the year, the number of staff employed by the Group was 117 (2018: 92). Management expects that the number of employees in 2020 will be higher compared to the current year.

On 1 January 2014, The Management and Supervision Act came into force requiring that at least 30% of the directors is female

and at least 30% is male. At this moment the company does not comply with this Act and management does not believe nominations for (re-) appointments will change this in the near future.

# Strategy for 2020 and beyond

## Strategy for 2020 and beyond

2019 marked another corner stone for Photon Energy in our company development. We have managed to continue implementing our growth strategy by expanding our proprietary portfolio by 20.1 MWp in Hungary (with another 7.5 MWp slated for grid-connection in Q1 2020) bringing our total proprietary portfolio to 51.7 MWp. We progressed with our project development activities in Australia and expanded our O&M and related service businesses to over 300 MWp. Outstanding electricity

production by our proprietary power plant portfolio contributed strongly to our 48.9% revenue growth to a record EUR 30.15 million, while our Gross Profit improved by 11.5% to EUR 15.44 million. Even though EBITDA contracted by 6.2% due to higher expansion-driven overheads amounting to EUR 7.6 million in 2019, the success of our efforts can be seen at the bottom line with a Total comprehensive income of EUR 6.5 million, compared to EUR 2.5 million a year earlier. As a result, our consoli-

dated equity increased from EUR 29.8 million to EUR 36.2 million during 2019.

The past year has been full of important highlights starting with the further roll-out of our proprietary portfolio in Hungary. We completed the construction of 20.1 MWp of PV power plants across five locations in Hungary and secured the long-term project financing of these plants with one of the leading local banks. Our pipeline of additional projects puts us well on the way of achieving our increased goal of expanding our proprietary portfolio by 75 MWp in Hungary until year-end 2021. The continuing support for solar energy in Hungary through the METAR system, which enabled our participation in the first Hungarian renewable energy auction, underpins the promising outlook for this very attractive market for several years to come. The Hungarian market also provides us with ample opportunities to grow our O&M business and for Photon Energy to become the leading O&M provider in the CEE region. In Q2 and Q3 2019 we managed to successfully exit two projects from our joint development of five utility-scale PV projects with a planned installed capacity exceeding 1.1 GWp in New South Wales with Canadian Solar, one of the world's leading integrated solar companies.

Later in the year we also managed to sell our interest in the Brewongle solar project, vindicating once more our strategy to develop and sell large scale projects in Australia. The delivery of our EPC services for the installation of 4.6 MWp of rooftop solar systems for the retail chain ALDI across 32 locations in Australia and the signing of an EPC contract for the installation of a hybrid 1.2 MWp solar and 3.2 MWh battery storage off-grid solution for Lord Howe Island underscores Photon Energy's market leading quality in the fast growing commercial user market.

Towards the end of the year we also successfully set our first step in the upcoming Polish solar market by winning a public tender to design and build a 950 kWp PV power plant next to a sewage treatment plant in the location of Jamno, Norhern Poland

Our Photon Water business is equally providing us with exciting new opportunities. Besides further developing our ultra-soundbased solutions to fight blue-green algae formation and several pilot projects to treat drinking water contaminated by arsenic and boron in Peru, we are working on the further deployment of our remediation technology and services.

Last but not least, in 2019 Photon Energy successfully increased its 5-year EUR bond with a 7.75% coupon to EUR 37.5 million. The continuous stellar performance of the bond has pushed the yield-to-maturity of the bond to around 5.4%. This is testament to the transparency of the company, our proactive communication with investors and our flawless track record in serving our quarterly bond coupons since 2013. During 2019 Photon Energy's share price advanced by a market-outperforming 159.8% to close at PLN 4.78. We believe in the importance of access to capital through public markets and therefore we remain strongly committed to open and pro-active investors relations.

We are looking ahead to 2020 as another year full of opportunities across all our business lines and are looking forward to developing our Australian utility-scale projects towards the ready-to-build stage, to a continuing increase in our proprietary portfolio of power plants in Hungary and Australia as well as strong growth in our O&M business and related services. We are also convinced that our entry into the Polish and Romanian markets will open a full variety of new opportunities to us ranging from PV project development to EPC and O&M services. We are also convinced that our Photon Water business will become an ever-stronger contributor to our Group's business volume.

#### **Going concern**

#### **Management statement**

In preparing these accounts on a going concern basis, management used its best estimates to forecast cash movements over the next 12 months from the date of these accounts. As per today, management believes the Company will be able to repay its liabilities and ensure the further development of the Group. In respect of actual COVID-19 situation, management believes these accounts should be prepared on a going concern basis.

# **Subsequent events**

#### Repayment of withholding amount from SPV 11

The decision of the court to find one of the subcontractors not guilty became into force on 5 February 2020. Subsequently the Court ruled on 27 February 2020 that the secured funds should be paid back to SPV 11, which happened in full on 24 March 2020.

#### Tata

In March the Companies subsidiary Photon Energy Solutions HU Kft. has completed and grid-connected all eight photovoltaic power plants with a total installed capacity of 5.4 MWp located

in the municipality of Tata, Hungary expanding the Groups total proprietary portfolio of PV power plants to 57.1 MWp. The Company owns and operates the power plants through five wholly-owned project companies. Revaluation of the Group's proprietary portfolio according to IAS 16, will be recorded in the Group's Other Comprehensive Income in the Q1 2020 Consolidated Income Statement.

#### COVID-19

Starting beginning of March the Company has undertaken all necessary measures to ensure the continuation of its business

including the provision of services to its customers during these challenging times. The Group closely monitors and analyses the situation and its policies reflect the measures adopted by the governments of the countries in which its business activities take place. Top priority is to make sure that the employees are safe and to mitigate any infection risk, while continuing its business activities at the highest level possible given external circumstances.

#### **Investment in Raygen**

In April the Company announced that it bought a minority equity stake in the Australian technology company RayGen Resources Pty Ltd. ('RayGen') in order to develop global renewable energy projects suitable for the roll-out of RayGen's unique solar power and electricity storage technology. Photon Energy

will act as a project developer and EPC contractor and – where suitable – as an equity investor in the projects, which will be supplied by RayGen. The partnership includes the development of a 100 MWp/1000 MWh solar-plus-storage project.

#### **New EPC contract in Australia**

In April the Company's subsidiary Photon Energy Australia Pty Ltd. has won a tender by water utility North East Water (serving a population of 110,000 people in north-east Victoria) to act in the capacity of Principal Contractor to design, build and commission a 3 MWp solar power plant adjacent to its Waste Water Treatment Plant (WWTP) located in West Wodonga, Victoria, Australia. Photon Energy Australia Pty Ltd. is now progressing to the contracting stage with a tendered contract value of AUD 7.284 million (EUR 4.1 million, PLN 18.7 million).

Amsterdam, 15 April 2020

The Board of Directors:

Georg Hotar, Director

Michael Gartner, Director



# **Consolidated Financial Statements**

for the year ended 31 December 2019

# Consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the year ended 31 December

In thousand of EUR	Note	2019	2018
Revenue	<u>10</u>	30.154	20,256
Cost of sales	<u>11</u>	-13,823	-5,539
Solar levy	<u>11</u>	-892	-877
Gross profit		15,439	13,840
Other income	<u>12</u>	209	392
Administrative expenses	14	-2,767	-2,342
Personnel expenses	<u>14</u>	-4,630	-3,371
Other expenses	<u>13</u>	-308	-373
Depreciation		-6,795	-5,602
Results from operating activities		1,147	2,544
Finance income	<u>15</u>	507	0
Interest income	<u>15</u>	227	149
Finance costs	<u>15</u>	-526	-434
Revaluation of derivatives	<u>15</u>	30	171
Interest costs	<u>15</u>	-4,726	-3,687
Net finance expenses		-4,488	-3,801
Disposal of investment		4,326	3,074
Share of profit equity-accounted investments (net of tax)	9	2	23
Profit/loss before taxation		988	1,840
Income tax due/deferred	<u>16</u>	-1,714	-1,331
Profit/loss for the year from continuing operations		-726	510
Profit for the year from discontinued operations		0	0
Profit/loss for the year		-726	510
Other comprehensive income (loss)			
Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss			
Revaluation of property, plant and equipment	22	8,549	2,366
Share of revaluation of property, plant and equipment of associates/joint ventures	22	0	0
Items that will be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss			
Foreign currency translation difference - foreign operations	22	231	-457
Derivatives (hedging)	22	10	113
Share of currency translation diff. Of associates / JV	22	0	0
Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax		8,790	2,022
Total comprehensive income for the year		8,064	2,531
Profit attributable to:			
Attributable to the owners of the company		-683	530
Attributable to non controlling interest		-43	-20
Profit for the year		-726	510
Total comprehensive income attributable to:			
Attributable to the owners of the company		8,107	2,552
Attributable to non controlling interest		-43	-20
Total comprehensive income for the year		8,064	2,531
Earnings per share			
	23	-0.013	0.012
Earnings per share	23 23	-0.013 -0.011	0.012 0.010

The notes on pages 71 to 122 are an integral part of these financial statements.

# Consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December

In thousand of EUR	Note	31 December 2019	31 December 2018
Assets			
Property, plant and equipment		100,797	79,294
Investments in equity-accounted investees	9.3	2,666	3,179
Other investments		0	20
Right of use- leased asset		3,014	
Long-term receivables		0	0
Deferred tax assets		0	0
Non-current assets		106,477	82,492
Inventories	19	1,212	1,148
Trade receivables	20	4,573	2,394
Other receivables	20	6,186	5,370
Gross amount due from customers for contract work	19	2,456	587
Current tax receivable		0	(
Loans	20	1,027	840
Prepaid expenses	20	1,228	1,176
Cash and cash equivalents	21	15,104	12,340
Other S-T financial asset		0	(
Assets classified as held for sale	8	0	
Current assets		31,786	23,856
Total assets		138,263	106,348
10101 00000	<del>-</del>		
Equity & Liabilities			
Equity			
Share capital	23	600	600
Share premium	23	23,760	23,760
Revaluation reserve	23	29,220	22,935
Legal reserve fund	23	13	13
Hedging reserve	23	233	223
Currency translation reserve	23	930	698
Retained earnings	23	-16,830	-18,411
Equity attributable to owners of the Company		37,926	29,819
Non-controlling interests	23	-83	-40
Total equity		37,843	29,779
Liabilities		37,643	23,773
		27.500	20.250
Loans and borrowings	<u>24</u>	37,589	29,250
Other long-term liabilities Other loans	<u>26</u>	40,072	32,551
Deferred tax liabilities		7.260	6.209
	<u>18</u>	7,369	6,308
Long-term liability from income tax			
Lease liability		3,043	
Non-current liabilities		88,073	68,110
Loans and borrowings	24	3,649	3,686
Trade payables	<u>25</u>	3,484	1,166
Other payables	<u>25</u>	5,090	3,177
Other Loans		0	
Other short-term liabilities		0	(
Current tax liabilities	<u>26</u>	125	430
Provisions	<u>26</u>	0	
Liabilities classified as held for sale	<u>8</u>	0	
Current liabilities		12,348	8,459
Total liabilities		100,421	76,569
Total equity and liabilities		138,263	106,348

The notes on pages 71 to 122 are an integral part of these financial statements.

# Consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year ended 31 December

In thousand EUR	Share capital	Share premium	Legal reserve fund	Revaluation reserve	Currency translation reserve	Hedging reserve	Retained earnings	TOTAL	Non- controlling interests	TOTAL EQUITY
BALANCE at 31.12.2017	600	23,760	13	22,506	1,155	110	-22,143	26,001	-19	25,982
BALANCE at 1.1.2018	600	23,760	13	22,506	1,155	110	-22,143	26,001	-19	25,982
Profit for the year	-	-	-	-	-	-	530	530	-20	510
Revaluation of PPE	-	-	-	2,366	-	-		2,366	-	2,366
Share on revaluation of PPE of associates, JV	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Foreign currency translation differences	-	-	-	-	-457	-	-	-457	-	-457
Derivatives		-	-	-	-	113	-	113	-	113
Acquisition on JV		-		-		-	-	-	-	-
Other comprehensive income	-	-		2,366	-457	113	530	2,552	-20	2,531
Move from revaluation reserve to retained earnings	-	-	-	-1,936	-	-	1,936	-		-
Legal reserve fund	-	-		-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Equity effect of JV capital increase	-	-	-	_	-	-	1,267	1,267		1,267
Move of RE due to entity disposal/change of cons. method		-	-	_	-	-	-	-	-	-
BALANCE at 31.12.2018	600	23,760	13	22,935	698	223	-18,411	29,819	-40	29,779
BALANCE at 1.1.2019	600	23,760	13	22,935	698	223	-18,411	29,819	-40	29,779
Profit for the year	-	-	-	-	-	-	-683	-683	-43	-726
Revaluation of PPE	-	-	-	8,549	-	-		8,549		8,549
Share on revaluation of PPE of associates, JV	-	-		-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Foreign currency translation differences	-	-	-	_	231	-	- 1	231	-	231
Derivatives	-	-	-	_	-	10	-	10		10
Acquisition on JV		-		-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Other comprehensive income	-	-	-	8,549	231	10	-683	8,107	-43	8,064
Move from revaluation reserve to retained earnings	-	-	-	-2,264		-	2,264	-		-
Legal reserve fund	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Equity effect of JV capital increase	-	-		-	-	-				
Move of RE due to entity disposal/change of cons. method	-	-		-	-	-	- 1	-	-	-
BALANCE at 31.12.2019	600	23,760	13	29,220	929	233	-16,830	37,926	-83	37,843

The notes on pages 71 to 122 are an integral part of these financial statements.

# Consolidated statement of cash flows for the year ended 31 December

In thousand of EUR	Note	2019	2018
Cash flows from operating activities			
Profit for the year before tax		988	1,840
Adjustments for:			
Depreciation	<u>17</u>	6,795	5,602
Other changes in fixed assets	<u>17</u>	0	0
Share of profit of equity-accounted investments	<u>9</u>	-2	-23
Profit/loss on sale of property, plant and equipment	<u>17</u>	0	0
Other non-cash items	<u>24</u>	-168	-153
Capital gains		-4,326	-3,074
Net finance costs	15	4,488	3,801
Changes in:			
Trade and other receivables	20	-3,180	-2,665
Gross amount due from customers for contract work		-1,870	-213
Prepaid expenses	<u>20</u>	-52	-461
Inventories	<u>19</u>	-63	197
Trade and other payables	<u>25</u>	4,231	2,842
Other liabilities	<u>25</u>	-305	-39
Net cash from operating activities		6,536	7,654
Cash flows from investing activities			
Acquisition of property, plant and equipment	<u>9</u>	-17,543	-9,552
Acquisition of subsidiaries, associates, JV	<u>9</u>	-2,133	-2,532
Acquisition of other investments	<u>9</u>	-167	-2,332 -404
Proceeds from sale of investments	<u>9</u>	5,433	3,074
Sale of investments- cash sold	<u>9</u>	0	0,074
Interest received	<u></u>	0	0
Net cash used in investing activities		-14,410	-9,415
Net tash used in investing activities		-14,410	-5,415
Cash flows from financing activities			
Proceeds from issuance of ordinary shares		0	0
Proceeds from borrowings	<u>24</u>	20,996	0
Change in consolidation method	<u>24</u>	0	0
Repayment of borrowings	<u>24</u>	-13,216	-6,039
Proceeds from issuing bonds	<u>24</u>	7,584	23,026
Repayment of bonds	<u>24</u>	0	-6,533
Interest expenses	24	-4,726	-3,687
Net cash from (used in) financing activities		10,638	6,764
Net increase/decrease in cash and cash equivalents		2,764	5,006
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January		12,340	7,333
Effect of exchange rate fluctuations on cash held		0	0
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December		15,104	12,340

The notes on pages 71 to 122 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.



# Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

for the year ended 31 December 2019

# 1. Reporting entity

Photon Energy N.V. ("Photon Energy" or the "Company"), ID 51447126, is a joint-stock company incorporated under the laws of Netherlands on 9 December 2010. The statutory seat of the Company is Barbara Strozzilaan 201, 1083HN Amsterdam. The consolidated financial statements of the Company as at and for the year ended 31 December 2019 comprise the Company and its subsidiaries (together referred to as the "Group" and individually as "Group entities") and the Group's interest in associates and jointly controlled entities.

The Group is engaged in the development of photovoltaic power plants. This activity involves securing suitable sites by purchase or long-term lease, obtaining all licenses and permits, the design, installation of photovoltaic equipment, financing, operations and maintenance. Photon Energy pursues a comprehensive strategy of focusing both on green-field and rooftop installations while trying to cover the largest possible part of the value chain and lifecycle of the power plant.

# 2. Basis of preparation

#### 2.1 Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union ("EU IFRSs") and title 9 Book 2 of the Netherlands Civil code. It represents the international accounting standards adopted in the form of European Commission Regulations in accordance with Regulation (EC) No 1606/2002 of the European Parliament and of the Council.

The consolidated financial statements were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 15 April 2020.

#### Going concern

In preparing these accounts on a going concern basis, management used its best estimates to forecast cash movements over the next 12 months from the date of these accounts. As per today, management believes the Company will be able to repay its liabilities and ensure the further development of the Group.

#### 2.2 Basis of measurement

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on historical cost basis except for the following material items in the statement of financial position:

- Property, plant and equipment photovoltaic power plants are measured at revalued amounts (for revaluation details refer to the note <u>22</u>)
- Investments in equity instruments accounted for using the equity method

## 2.3 Functional currency

These financial statements are presented in EUR.

The functional currencies used in the Group are CZK for Czech subsidiaries, EUR for Dutch, German and Slovak companies, CHF for Swiss subsidiary, HUF for Hungarian entities and AUD for Australian subsidiaries. All financial information presented in EUR has been rounded to the nearest thousand.

## 2.4 Use of estimates and judgments

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with EU IFRSs requires management to make judge-

ments, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

Significant management judgement is used in key assumptions applied discounted cash flow projections related to the valuation of the photovoltaic power plants (refer to Note 5.1) and in case of professional judgment and internal knowledge of the customer related to the creation of the allowance for bad and doubtful debts (refer to Note 28.2).

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognized in the period in which the estimates are revised and in any future periods affected.

Information about assumptions and estimation uncertainties that have a significant risk of resulting in a material adjustment within the next financial year are included in the following notes:

- Note <u>5.1</u> key assumptions used in discounted cash flow projections related to the valuation of the photovoltaic power plants
- Note <u>27.2</u> professional judgment and internal knowledge of the customer related to the creation of the allowance for bad and doubtful debts

# 3. Application of new and revised EU IFRSs

# 3.1 New and revised EU IFRSs affecting amounts reported in the current year (and/or prior years)

The following new and revised EU IFRSs have been applied in the current period and have affected the amounts reported in the financial statements.

#### **IFRS 16 Leases**

Effective from annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019 lessees are required to account for all leases on their balance sheets, including those which had previously been treated as operating leases and accounted for in the P&L account as an "in-year" expense. This will include leases of retail and commercial property, equipment and vehicles.

The Group has applied the standard from its mandatory adoption date 1 January 2019; the Company applies the simplified transition approach and is not restating comparative amounts for the year to first adoption. Right-of-use assets will be measured at the amount of the lease liability on adoption (adjusted to any prepaid or accrued lease expenses).

# 3.2 New and revised IFRSs in issue but not yet effective

The Group has not applied the following new and revised EU IFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective (dates in brackets shows effective date):

- IFRS 17 Insurance contracts (January 2021)
- Amendment in IFRS 3 Business combination (January 2020)
- Amendment in IAS 1 Presentation of financial statements and IAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors (January 2020)

#### **IAS 17 Insurance contracts**

IFRS 17 required insurance liabilities to be measured at a current fulfilment value and provides a more uniform measurement and

presentation approach for all insurance contracts. These requirements are designed to achieve the goal of a consistent, principle based accounting for insurance contracts. IFRS 17 supersedes IFRS 4 Insurance contracts as of 1 January 2021.

#### **Amendment in IFRS 3 Business Combinations**

The newest amendment brings new definition of business. It is very important to distinguish between the situations when the investor acquires a business or when the investor acquires just a group of assets.

The reason is that the accounting method for the new acquisition depends on what it is:

- If you acquire a business, then you apply full consolidation method under IFRS 3,
- If you acquire a group of assets, then you apply different accounting method, e.g. under IAS 16 Property, plant and equipment or under IFRS 11 Joint Operations, or other.

This change will be effective from 1 January 2020.

#### Amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8

The amendment relates to the definition of material information.

According to the new definition, information is material if omitting, misstating or obscuring it could reasonably be expected to influence decisions that the primary users of general purpose financial statements make on the basis of those financial statements, which provide financial information about a specific reporting entity.

# 4. Significant accounting policies

The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented in these consolidated financial statements, and have been applied consistently by Group entities.

#### 4.1 Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and entities (including special purpose entities) controlled by the Company (its subsidiaries). Control is achieved when the Company is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the subsidiary and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the subsidiary.

#### 4.1.1 Business combinations

Acquisition of businesses is accounted for using the acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a business combination is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of the acquisition date fair values of the assets transferred by the Group, liabilities incurred by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree. Acquisition related costs are recognized in profit or loss as incurred.

#### 4.1.2 Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Company. The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements from the date that control commences until the date that control ceases.

Income and expenses and other comprehensive income of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income from the effective date of acquisition and up to the effective date of disposal, as appropriate. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling interests even if doing so causes the non-controlling interests to have a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into line with Group accounting policies.

#### 4.1.3 Special purpose entities

The Group includes special purpose entities (SPEs). The Group does not have any direct or indirect shareholdings in these entities. An SPE is consolidated if, based on an evaluation of the substance of its relationship with the Group and the SPE's risks and rewards, the Group concludes that it controls the SPE. SPEs controlled by the Group were established under terms that impose strict limitations on the decision-making powers of the SPEs' management and that result in the Group receiving the majority of the benefits related to the SPEs' operations and net assets, being exposed to the majority of risks incident to the

SPEs' activities, and retaining the majority of the residual or ownership risks related to the SPEs or their assets.

SPEs currently include entities owned by Raiffeisen – Leasing s.r.o. ("RL"). All these SPEs are financed by RL.

Based on new contractual agreements, the Company has the right to apply a call option for purchase of a 100% share in the RL SPVs in case of full repayment of external loans, security loans, and all the other financial liabilities of PENV towards RL and the Financing bank, plus payment of the future purchase price for the transfer of share in the SPEs.

See the list of SPEs in note 29.

#### 4.1.4 Loss of control

Upon the loss of control, the Group derecognizes the assets and liabilities of the subsidiary, any non-controlling interests and the other components of equity related to the subsidiary. Any surplus or deficit arising from the loss of control is recognized in profit or loss. If the Group retains any interest in the previous subsidiary, then such interest is measured at fair value at the date that control is lost. Subsequently it is accounted for as an equity-accounted investee or as an available-for-sale financial asset depending on the level of influence retained.

# 4.1.5 Investments in associates and jointly controlled entities (equity-accounted investees)

Associates are those entities in which the Group has significant influence, but not control, over the financial and operating policies. Significant influence is presumed to exist when the Group holds 20 percent or more of the voting power of another entity. Joint ventures are arrangements that the Company controls jointly with one or more other investors, and over which the Company has rights to a share of the arrangements net assets rather than direct rights to underlying assets and obligations for underlying liabilities.

Investments in associates and jointly controlled entities are accounted for using the equity method (equity-accounted investees) and are recognized initially at cost. The cost of the investment includes transaction costs.

The consolidated financial statements include the Group's share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive income, after adjustments to align the accounting policies with those of the Group, from the date that significant influence or joint control commences until the date that significant influence or joint control ceases.

When the Group's share of losses exceeds its interest in an equity-accounted investee, the carrying amount of that interest, including any long-term investments, is reduced to zero, and the recognition of further losses is discontinued except to the extent that the Group has an obligation or has made payments on behalf of the investee.

#### 4.1.6 Transactions eliminated on consolidation

Regarding subsidiaries all intra-group transactions, balances, income and expenses are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Regarding equity-accounted investees (see note 4.1.5) part of a margin on sales to these entities is eliminated. This part is calculated as a percentage of margins equal to the percentage of the entity's shares owned by the Group.

#### 4.2 Foreign currency

#### 4.2.1 Foreign currency transactions

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the respective functional currencies of Group entities at exchange rates at the dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the reporting date are translated to the functional currency at the exchange rate at that date. The foreign currency gain or loss on monetary items is the difference between amortised cost in the functional currency at the beginning of the year, adjusted for effective interest and payments during the year, and the amortised cost in foreign currency translated at the exchange rate at the end of the year.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that are measured at fair value are retranslated to the functional currency at the exchange rate at the date that the fair value was determined. Non-monetary items in a foreign currency that are measured in terms of historical cost are translated using the exchange rate at the date of the transaction. Foreign currency differences arising on retranslation are recognized in profit or loss, except for differences arising on the retranslation of available-for-sale equity investments.

#### 4.2.2 Foreign operations

The assets and liabilities of foreign operations (those in the Czech Republic, Switzerland, Hungary and Australia as of 31 December 2019) are translated into Euro at exchange rates at the reporting date. The income and expenses of foreign operations are translated into Euro at exchange rates at the dates of the transactions.

#### 4.2.3 Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognized in profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred.

#### 4.3 Financial instruments

Financial instruments are only used to mitigate risks and are not used for trading purposes.

#### 4.3.1 Non-derivative financial assets

#### Recognition and derecognition

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the financial instrument.

Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset expire, or when the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards are transferred. A financial liability is derecognised when it is extinguished, discharged, cancelled or expires.

#### Classification and initial measurement of financial assets

Except for those trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing component and are measured at the transaction price in accordance with IFRS 15, all financial assets are initially measured at fair value adjusted for transaction costs (where applicable).

Financial assets, other than those designated and effective as hedging instruments, are classified into the following categories:

- amortised cost
- fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL)
- fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI).

All income and expenses relating to financial assets that are recognised in profit or loss are presented within finance costs, finance income or other financial items, except for impairment of trade receivables which is presented within other expenses.

#### Financial assets at amortised cost

Financial assets are measured at amortised cost if the assets meet the following conditions (and are not designated as FVTPL):

- they are held within a business model whose objective is to hold the financial assets and collect its contractual cash flows
- the contractual terms of the financial assets give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding

After initial recognition, these are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

# Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL)

Financial assets that are held within a different business model other than 'hold to collect' or 'hold to collect and sell' are categorised at fair value through profit and loss. Further, irrespective of business model financial assets whose contractual cash flows are not solely payments of principal and interest are accounted

for at FVTPL. All derivative financial instruments fall into this category, except for those designated and effective as hedging instruments, for which the hedge accounting requirements apply

#### 4.3.2 Non-derivative financial liabilities

The Group's financial liabilities include borrowings, trade and other payables and derivative financial instruments. Financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value, and, where applicable, adjusted for transaction costs unless the Group designated a financial liability at fair value through profit or loss. Subsequently, financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method except for derivatives and financial liabilities designated at FVTPL, which are carried subsequently at fair value with gains or losses recognised in profit or loss (other than derivative financial instruments that are designated and effective as hedging instruments).

All interest-related charges and, if applicable, changes in an instrument's fair value that are reported in profit or loss are included within finance costs or finance income.

#### 4.3.3 Share capital

#### **Ordinary shares**

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Consideration received above the nominal value of the ordinary shares is classified in equity as Share premium. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of ordinary shares are recognized as a deduction from equity, net of any tax effects.

#### 4.3.4. Derivative financial instruments

The Slovak SPVs own interest rate derivatives used for hedging. The purpose of the derivatives is to hedge against movement of interest rates. Concluding the derivative contract was one of the conditions required by the financing bank as defined in the loan contract. The change in value of these derivatives is recognized via the equity of the Company and the result is shown in the derivatives reserve of the Company's equity since 1 January 2012. Until then, they were recognized via profit and loss.

The required documentation has been prepared and derivatives were successfully tested for effectiveness.

The Czech SPVs own interest rate derivatives. Concluding the derivative contract was one of the conditions required by the financing bank as defined in the loan contract with the fixed interest rate of 5.19%. The change in value of these derivatives is recognized via the profit and loss as they do not meet criteria for hedging derivatives.

The refinanced Hungarian SPVs own interest rate derivatives. Concluding the derivative contract was one of conditions required by the financing bank as defined in the Loan contract.

#### 4.4 Property, plant and equipment

#### 4.4.1 Recognition and measurement

Photovoltaic power plants are stated in the consolidated statement of financial position at their revalued amounts, being the fair value at the date of revaluation, less any subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent accumulated impairment losses. Revaluations are performed at sufficient regularity so that the carrying amounts do not differ materially from those that would be determined using fair values at the end of each reporting period. The need for revaluations is assessed every quarter.

For fair value determination see note 5.1.

Any revaluation surplus arising on the revaluation of such photovoltaic power plant is recognized in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity, except to the extent that the surplus reverses a revaluation deficit on the same asset previously recognized in profit or loss. Any deficit on the revaluation of such photovoltaic power plants is recognized in profit or loss except to the extent that it reserves a previous revaluation surplus on the same asset, in which case the debit to that extent is recognized in other comprehensive income.

Photovoltaic power plants, which the Company consolidates, in the course of construction are carried at cost, less any recognized impairment loss. The cost of self-constructed assets includes the cost of materials and direct labor plus any other costs directly attributable to bringing the assets to a working condition for their intended use and capitalized borrowing costs. Such properties are reported as Property, plant, equipment - Assets in progress and are classified to Property, plant and equipment - Photovoltaic power plants when completed and ready for use. These assets are completed and ready for use when the power plant is connected to the electricity network and all technical parameters necessary for electricity production are completed. Depreciation of these assets, on the same basis as other property assets, commences when the assets are ready for their intended use.

Additional costs capitalized in the value of the asset are included in the regular review of power plants value as done on quarterly basis.

The costs of maintenance, repairs, renewals or replacements which do not extend productive life are charged to operations as incurred. The costs of replacements and improvements which extend productive life are capitalized. The cost of replacing part of an item of property and equipment is recognized in the carrying amount of the item if it is probable that the future economic benefits embodied within the part will flow to the Company and its cost can be measured reliably.

Included in the property plant and equipment are non separable intangible assets mainly relating to the rights to build and operate photovoltaic power plants in a specific country. Because the items are non separable, the rights are included in property, plant and equipment.

Fixtures and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset. The gain or loss on disposal of an item of fixtures and equipment is determined by comparing the proceeds from disposal with the carrying amount of the property, plant and equipment, and is recognized net within other income/other expenses in profit or loss.

#### 4.4.2 Depreciation

Depreciation is recognized so as to write off the costs or revalued amount of property, plant and equipment (other than land and properties under construction) less their residual values over their useful lives, using the straight-line method. The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation methods are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

Depreciation of revalued photovoltaic power plants is recognized in profit or loss. Every quarter the amount equal to the difference between depreciation based on the revalued carrying amount of photovoltaic power plants and depreciation based on asset's original cost is transferred directly to retained earnings. On the subsequent sale or retirement of a revalued property, the attributable revaluation surplus remaining in the properties revaluation reserve is transferred directly to retained earnings.

Land is not depreciated.

The estimated useful lives for the current and comparative years are as follows (based on the professional judgement combining the Feed in Tariff period and useful estimated live of the components and technology used in the power plants):

Photovoltaic power plants 20 years

Fixtures and equipments 3–10 years

#### 4.5 Inventories

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realizable value. The cost of inventories is based on the weighted average principle, and includes expenditure incurred in acquiring the inventories, production or conversion costs and other costs incurred in bringing them to their existing location and condition.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the estimated costs of completion and selling expenses.

#### 4.6 Impairment

Goodwill and intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to amortisation and are tested annually for impairment or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that they might be impaired. Other assets are tested for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset's carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset's fair value less

costs of disposal and value in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash inflows which are largely independent of the cash inflows from other assets or groups of assets (cash-generating units). Non-financial assets other than goodwill that suffered impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at the end of each reporting period.

# 4.7 Non-current assets held for sale or distribution

Non-current assets held for sale or distribution comprises assets and liabilities, which are expected to be recovered primarily through sale or distribution rather than through continuing use. Immediately before classification as held for sale or distribution, the assets, or components of a disposal group, are re-measured in accordance with the Group's accounting policies. Thereafter, generally, the assets, or disposal group, are measured at the lower of their carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell. Any impairment loss on a disposal group first is allocated to goodwill, and then to remaining assets and liabilities on a *prorata* basis, except that no loss is allocated to inventories, financial assets, deferred tax assets, employee benefit assets, which continue to be measured in accordance with the Group's accounting policies.

Impairment losses on initial classification as held for sale or distribution and subsequent gains and losses on remeasurement are recognized in profit or loss. Gains are not recognized in excess of any cumulative impairment loss.

Once classified as held for sale or distribution, intangible assets and property, plant and equipment are no longer amortised or depreciated.

#### 4.8 Provisions

A provision is recognized if, as a result of a past event, the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation that can be estimated reliably, and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation. Provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the liability.

#### 4.8.1 Warranties

A provision for warranties is recognized when the underlying services are sold, i.e. when the construction contracts are finished. The provision is based on historical warranty data and a weighting of all possible outcomes against their associated probabilities.

#### 4.9 Revenue

All revenues are recognised at a point of time unless otherwise disclosed.

#### 4.9.1 Goods sold

Revenues are booked when the control over the goods is transferred from the supplier (Group) to the customer. This transfer

of control is clearly defined in the contractual conditions. Group as a supplier does not provide in major of the cases any other separate performance as part of the delivery. In very rare immaterial cases, the storage services or arrangement of customs duty is provided and invoiced individually, however this is provided only on the individual basis and represents an immaterial part of the overall revenues within the sale of technology division.

#### 4.9.2 Services

Revenue from services (e.g. maintenance, technical-administrative; installation) are invoiced on regular monthly basis for a fixed fee agreed in the contract, additionally to this adhoc interventions are invoiced based on the actual usage of the on call service intervention. In this case, invoice is issued only on the basis of the accepted protocol confirming the services were really provided to the customer and were accepted. Part of this intervention and service provided can be also provision/usage the miscellaneous material that is at the end part of the total invoice. However, this is not provided independently without the related service so it cannot be considered as a separate performance obligation.4.9.3 Construction contracts

Contract revenue includes the initial amount agreed in the contract plus any variations in contract work, claims and incentive payments, to the extent that it is probable that they will result in revenue and can be measured reliably. As soon as the outcome of a construction contract can be estimated reliably, contract revenue is recognized in profit or loss in proportion to the stage of completion of the contract. Contract expenses are recognized as incurred unless they create an asset related to future contract activity.

The stage of completion is measured by reference to the contract costs incurred up to the reporting date as a percentage of total estimated costs for each contract. When the outcome of a construction contract cannot be estimated reliably, contract revenue is recognized only to the extent of contract costs incurred that are likely to be recoverable. An expected loss on a contract is recognized immediately in profit or loss.

Construction services are provided based on the engineering and procurement contracts (EPC) either to the internal or external customers. In the contract, stages for invoicing are clearly defined. EPC provider commits itself to the construction and delivery of the power plant with the regular warranty for quality of the work delivered. No long-term extraordinary guarantees that could be considered as a separate obligation under IFRS 15 are provided.

#### 4.9.3 Sale of electricity

Revenues from sale of electricity are coming from the sale of electricity produced and sold to the local electricity distributor. Invoices are issued/ revenues are booked only when the electricity is delivered to the distribution net in the volume reviewed and accepted by the distributors.

#### 4.10 Finance income and finance costs

Finance income comprises interest income on loans and net foreign currency gains. Interest income is recognized in profit or loss using the effective interest rate method.

Finance costs comprise interest expense on borrowings, bank account fees and net foreign currency losses. Interest expense is recognized using the effective interest rate method.

Borrowing costs that are not directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset are recognized in profit or loss. Borrowing costs incurred by the Group directly attributable to the construction of power plants is capitalized in the cost of the related asset until the date of its completion.

Foreign currency gains and losses are reported on a net basis as either finance income or finance cost depending on whether foreign currency movements are in a net gain or net loss position.

#### 4.11 Income tax

Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. Current tax and deferred tax is recognized in profit or loss except to the extent that it relates to a business combination, or items recognized directly in equity or in other comprehensive income.

Current tax is the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax is recognized in respect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. Deferred tax is not recognized for:

- Temporary differences on the initial recognition of assets or liabilities in a transaction that is not a business combination and that affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss;
- Temporary differences related to investments in subsidiaries and jointly controlled entities to the extent that it is probable that they will not reverse in the foreseeable future; and
- Taxable temporary differences arising on the initial recognition of goodwill.

A deferred tax liability is recognized for assets revaluation reported in other comprehensive income and other temporary differences. Assets revaluation represents the revaluation of photovoltaic power plants described in note 4.4.1.

Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to temporary differences when they reverse, based on the laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax liabilities and assets, and they relate to income taxes levied by the same tax authority on the same taxable entity, or on different tax entities, but they intend to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis or their tax assets and liabilities will be realised simultaneously.

A deferred tax asset is recognized for unused tax losses, tax credits and deductible temporary differences, to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which they can be utilised. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realised.

#### 4.12 Earnings per share

The Group uses ordinary shares only. The Group presents basic earnings per share and total comprehensive income per share data.

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders of the Company by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year.

Total comprehensive income per share is calculated by dividing the total comprehensive income attributable to ordinary shareholders of the Company by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year.

#### 4.13 Segment reporting

An operating segment is a component of the Group that engages in business activities from which it may earn revenues and incur expenses, including revenues and expenses that relate to transactions with any of the Group's other components. All operating segments' operating results are reviewed regularly by the Group's management and directors to make decisions about resources to be allocated to the segment and to assess its performance, and for which discrete financial information is available.

Segment results that are reported include items directly attributable to a segment as well as those that can be allocated on a reasonable basis. Unallocated items comprise mainly corporate assets (primarily the Company's office premises), head office expenses, and other minor expenses non-allocable to the any of the segments.

Segment capital expenditure is the total cost incurred during the year to acquire property, plant and equipment, and intangible assets other than goodwill.

### 4.14 Leasing

For any new contracts entered into on or after 1 January 2019, the Group considers whether a contract is, or contains a lease. A lease is defined as 'a contract, or part of a contract, that conveys the right to use an asset (the underlying asset) for a period of time in exchange for consideration'. To apply this definition the Group assesses whether the contract meets three key evaluations which are whether:

- the contract contains an identified asset, which is either explicitly identified in the contract or implicitly specified by being identified at the time the asset is made available to the Group
- the Group has the right to obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from use of the identified asset throughout the period of use, considering its rights within the defined scope of the contract
- the Group has the right to direct the use of the identified asset throughout the period of use.

The Group assess whether it has the right to direct 'how and for what purpose' the asset is used throughout the period of use.

#### Measurement and recognition of leases as a lessee

At lease commencement date, the Group recognises a right-ofuse asset and a lease liability on the balance sheet. The right-ofuse asset is measured at cost, which is made up of the initial measurement of the lease liability, any initial direct costs incurred by the Group, an estimate of any costs to dismantle and remove the asset at the end of the lease, and any lease payments made in advance of the lease commencement date (net of any incentives received).

The Group depreciates the right-of-use assets on a straight-line basis from the lease commencement date to the earlier of the end of the useful life of the right-of-use asset or the end of the lease term. The Group also assesses the right-of-use asset for impairment when such indicators exist.

At the commencement date, the Group measures the lease liability at the present value of the lease payments unpaid at that date, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease if that rate is readily available or the Group's incremental borrowing rate.

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability are made up of fixed payments (including in substance fixed), variable payments based on an index or rate, amounts expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee and payments arising from options reasonably certain to be exercised.

Subsequent to initial measurement, the liability will be reduced for payments made and increased for interest. It is remeasured to reflect any reassessment or modification, or if there are changes in in-substance fixed payments.

When the lease liability is remeasured, the corresponding adjustment is reflected in the right-of-use asset, or profit and loss if the right-of-use asset is already reduced to zero.

The Group has elected to account for short-term leases and leases of low-value assets using the practical expedients. Instead of recognising a right-of-use asset and lease liability, the payments in relation to these are recognised as an expense in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

#### 5. Determination of fair values

A number of the Group's accounting policies and disclosures require the determination of fair value, for both financial and non-financial assets and liabilities. Fair values have been determined for measurement and/or disclosure purposes based on the following methods. When applicable, further information about the assumptions made in determining fair values is disclosed in the notes specific to that asset or liability.

#### 5.1 Property, plant and equipment

The fair value of items of plant, equipment, fixtures and fittings is based on the market approach, using quoted market prices for similar items when available, or the income approach (an internally generated discounted cash-flow model) if there is no market based evidence of the fair value. Otherwise, the depreciated replacement cost approach will be used, when appropriate. The depreciated replacement cost estimates reflect adjustments for physical deterioration as well as functional and economic obsolescence.

For photovoltaic power plants market prices are not available. Therefore, the income approach is used. Under this approach the fair value of photovoltaic power plants was in previous years based on an internally generated discounted cash flow model, discounted at weighted average cost of capital. Cash flows were calculated for the period equal to the duration of the Feed-in-Tariff (period with guaranteed sales prices) in a given country and based on the expected after tax cost of debt and expected cost of equity. On a quarterly basis, management reviewed the expected debt costs of individual projects vis-a-vis actual interest cost, financial market conditions, and interest rate for a 15year state bond. On a quarterly basis, management also reviewed expected cost of equity for the period of the cash flow model. The initial valuations were done as of the date of put in use of an individual power plant, and each model is periodically reviewed and any potential change in inputs is considered. The cash flow projections were prepared for 20 years in Czech Republic, 15 years in Slovak Republic and 25 years in Hungary, equal to the duration of the feed-in-tarrifs of the projects. Main inputs used in the models are the following: overall project budget, taxes, interest rates, reserve funds, feed in tariff, OPEX.

- The valuation for Czech SPVs (represented by option rights) was approximated by the current Project Value. Moreover the valuation was based on Unlevered Free Cash Flow to Firm (FCFF) basis of the SPVs. The FCFF calculation used in the valuation was consistent with the overall known definition and approaches.
- The valuation of the Slovak SPVs was based on the Unlevered Free Cash Flow to Firm (FCFF) basis of the SPVs. The discount rate was based on the Capital Asset Pricing Model ("CAPM"). The CAPM is used to determine the appropriate required rate of return of an asset, if that asset is to be added to an already well-

diversified portfolio, given that asset's nondiversifiable risk.

The revaluation reserve created, based on the DCF models, was annually released to the retained earnings in the amount equal to the depreciation calculated from the amount of revaluation.

#### Changes in valuation methodology in 2014

During summer 2014 the Group managed to change various conditions of senior bank financing at the project level. These changes consisted mainly of debt increase, changes in interest rates, changes in reserve accounts and in some cases extension of loan tenor (i.e. changes in debt repayment schedule). In addition to changes in project finance there were major changes in inputs for SK Portfolio that were not reflected in the old valuation models. These changes were imposing a new grid connection fee for Slovak projects.

Moreover the old methodology based on DCF Entity with not adjusting discount rates due to capital structure change tended to provide less accurate results on the value by DCF. Therefore the DCF Equity method with clear cash streams available to shareholders was chosen to provide significantly more accurate results, because all the changes in financing structure and related interest/principal payments are reflected undistorted.

#### Changes in the valuation methodology

The DCF Equity valuation method is based on a Discounted Cash Flow method. This method includes the future cash flows available to the shareholders/providers of equity of photovoltaic projects (i.e. after all debt repayments and interests) that are later discounted by respective discount rates. On the contrary the old model was based on DCF Entity and included future cash flows available to the company.

The new valuation of the project keeps in mind the risk profile of future cash flows and the way the project is financed. The risk profile is represented by a discount rate (cost of equity levered). Due to existence of senior project finance the cost of equity calculated by CAPM formula is adjusted by Miller-Modigliani formula to achieve the most precise cost of equity levered for each project respecting it unique capital structure. On the contrary the old model used unchanging WACC as the cost of capital.

Another change of the valuation model is the change in discounting frequency. In the new valuation model, a quarterly discount is applied. This is based on the fact that debt repayments are happening on quarterly basis. This is effecting the overall change in financing structure and indirectly effecting cost of equity levered. On the contrary the old model discounted a yearly cash flow (mid-year convention).

Result of the revaluation based on the above described change amounted to EUR 8,549 thousand in 2014.

The valuation of the Hungarian SPVs follows the in 2014 changed valuation methodology and was based on the Levered Free Cash Flow to Equity (FCFE) basis of the SPVs. The discount rate was based on the Capital Asset Pricing Model adjusted by the Miller-Modigliani formula ("CAPMMM"). The CAPMMM is used to determine the appropriate required rate of return of an asset, if that asset is to be added to an already well-diversified portfolio, given that asset's non-diversifiable risk.

This methodology and input parameters have not been changed for all SPVs in 2019.

#### 5.2 Inventories

The fair value of inventories acquired in a business combination is determined based on the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less the estimated costs of completion and sale, and a reasonable profit margin based on the effort required to complete and sell the inventories.

#### 5.3 Trade and other receivables

The fair value of trade and other receivables, excluding construction work in progress, but including service concession

receivables, is estimated at the present value of future cash flows, discounted at the market rate of interest at the reporting date. This fair value is determined for disclosure purposes or when acquired in a business combination.

#### 5.4 Non-derivative financial liabilities

The Group classifies non-derivative financial liabilities into the other financial liabilities category. Such financial liabilities are recognized initially at fair value (estimated at the present value of the future cash outflows discounted by effective interest rate) plus any directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, these financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. For finance leases the market rate of interest is determined by reference to similar lease agreements.

# 6. Financial risk management

#### 6.1 Risk management framework

The Group's risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the risks faced by the Group, to set appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor risks and adherence to limits. Risk management policies and systems are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in market conditions and the Group's activities. The Group, through its training and management standards and procedures, aims to develop a disciplined and constructive control environment in which all employees understand their roles and obligations.

## 6.2 Sovereign Risk

The Company's results can be adversely affected by political or regulatory developments negatively impacting on the income streams of projects in the portfolio. A number of countries have already succumbed to retroactive measures reneging on existing agreements, guarantees and legislation by imposing levies, cancelling contracts or renegotiating terms unilaterally or by other measures reducing or in the worst case cancelling Feed in Tariffs for renewable energy investments. Legal remedies available to compensate investors for expropriation or other takings may be inadequate. Lack of legal certainty exposes projects in the portfolio to increased risk of adverse or unpredictable actions by government officials, and also makes it more difficult for us to enforce existing contracts. In some cases these risks can be partially offset by agreements to arbitrate disputes in an international forum, but the adequacy of this remedy may still depend on the local legal system to enforce the award.

#### 6.3 Operational risk

The economic viability of energy production using photovoltaic power plants installations depends on Feed-in-Tariff (FiT) systems. The FiT system can be negatively affected by a number of factors including, but not limited to, a reduction or elimination in the FiT or green bonus per KWh produced, an elimination or reduction of the indexation of the FiT and a shortening of the period for which the FiT applies to photovoltaic installations. On the investment side the Company faces uncertainty in relation to the approval process for the construction of photovoltaic installations, grid connection and the investment cost per KWp of installed capacity. The operating and financial results of the Company can be seriously affected by a sudden or significant change in the regulatory environment in each of the countries where the Company or its subsidiaries conduct business.

During the fourth quarter of 2010, the Czech parliament and the Czech government approved several changes in the legal framework governing certain aspects of the photovoltaic and other industries. Those changes included mainly: (i) a 3 years solar levy, newly introduced into the Czech tax system, of 26% on the revenues of photovoltaic power plants above 30kW of installed capacity, completed in the years 2009 and 2010, (ii) the abolishment of a six-year corporate income tax exemption for photovoltaic power plants, and (iii) a tenfold increase of the contractual fees previously agreed between the photovoltaic power plant operators and the state Land Fund for the extraction of certain classes of land from the state fund.

In September 2013, additional prolongation of the solar levy was approved. The percentage was decreased to 10% and applicability of this tax prolonged till end of the useful economic life of the power plants. The Company reflected this change in the DCF models for Czech SPVs already as of 30 September 2013. The fair value decrease was reflected in the value of assets, related deferred tax and other comprehensive income in 2013 financial statements.

For the years 2016 and 2017 the Group opted for its Czech power plants for the green bonus scheme and for 2018 the management decided to opt again back for the feed-in-tariff. This decision was also taken for 2019.

#### Photon SPV 11 s.r.o.

Since 2013 several investigations relating to the issuance of the energy production license of the PV power plant of Photon Energy SPV 11 s.r.o. (SPV 11) have been conducted, always coming to the conclusion that the license had been issued legitimately. At the beginning of 2018 criminal charges were filed against two former subcontractors of the EPC provider of SPV 11 and as of August 2018 the difference of the feed in tariff 2010 and 2011 is withheld by ČEZ Prodej a.s. In total this amounts to EUR 1,016 thousand (CZK 25.820 thousand) of revenues, which is shown as trade receivables in the financial statements as of 31.12.2019. In December 2019 one of the two accused subcontractors was already acquitted and after the reporting period the court ruled to pay back the withheld amount, which happened on 24 March 2020. A ruling for the second subcontractor is expected in the upcoming months. Management is not aware of any fact that neither the issuance of the license had been not lawful nor that such reassessment would not come to the same result of the lawfulness of the feed in tariff 2010. Therefore, neither in 2018 nor 2019 provisions have been made in the financial statements.

#### 6.4 Currency risk

The Group is exposed to a currency risk on sales, purchases and borrowings that are denominated in a currency other than the respective functional currencies of Group entities.

The transactions of the Group entities are denominated in CZK, EUR, AUD, CHF, and HUF. There is no financial hedging used by the company against the currency risk. Company's management does not formally monitor the FX positions.

#### 6.5 Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet its contractual obligations, and arises principally from the Group's receivables from customers, including the electricity distributors.

#### Trade and other receivables

The Group's exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by individual characteristics of each customer. However, management also considers the demographics of the Group's customer

base, including the default risk of the industry and country in which customers operate, as these factors may have an influence on credit risk. In most cases, the Company requires advance payments (partial or 100%) for the delivery of electricity in order to minimise the credit risk. Additionally, in case of new customers, the company looks for market references of the potential customers that are available in public resources. The collections are regularly monitored by the responsible employees and any significant overdue receivables are discussed with the management of the company. Management of the company is responsible for the decision whether allowance is to be created or any other steps need to be performed.

The Group establishes an allowance for impairment that represents its estimate of expected losses in respect of trade and other receivables.

#### Cash and cash equivalents

The Group held cash and cash equivalents of EUR 15,104 thousand at 31 December 2019 (2018: EUR 12,340 thousand), which represents its maximum credit exposure on these assets. The cash and cash equivalents are held with banks and financial institution counterparties. Only those banks and financial institutions, which were approved by the members of the board of directors, can be used by the company.

Cash held by the SPVs under legal ownership of RL is restricted only for certain transactions, e.g. loan and related interest provided to those SPV's by Photon Energy N.V. is subordinated to the loan from RL and will be paid only after the repayment of the RL loan. Total amount of the cash owned by these SPVs is EUR 2,737 thousand as at 31 December 2019 (2018: EUR 4,634 thousand).

#### 6.6 Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter difficulty in meeting the obligations associated with its financial liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or another financial asset. The Group's approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Group's reputation.

#### 6.7 Interest risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in market interest rates. It is measured by the extent to which changes in market interest rates impact on net interest expense. The Company uses interest rate derivatives for managing the interest rate risk.

Slovak SPVs, consolidated in full or by using the equity method by the Group, own interest rate derivatives used for hedging. The purpose of the derivatives is to hedge against movement of interest rates. Concluding the derivative contract was one of conditions required by financing bank as defined in the Loan contract.

The change in fair value of these derivatives is recognized via equity of the Company and the result is shown in Derivatives reserve of the Company's equity since 1 January 2012. Until then, the change in fair value of the derivatives was recorded to profit and loss.

The Czech SPVs own interest rate derivatives. Concluding the derivative contract was one of conditions required by the financing bank as defined in the Loan contract. The change in value of these derivatives is recognized via Profit and loss as they do not meet criteria for the hedging derivatives.

The refinanced Hungarian SPVs own interest rate derivatives. Concluding the derivative contract was one of conditions required by the financing bank as defined in the Loan contract.

#### 6.7 **COVID-19 risk**

COVID-19 risk is the risk the pandemic of the Corona virus may have on the business activity of the Group. With the outbreak of the Corona virus the Group has implemented continuity plans as well as health and safety procedures to ensure that all employees and contractors are safe and compliant with govern-ment directives. In particular, the electricity generation segment of 69 PV power plants with a total installed capacity of 57.1 MWp is producing electricity as usual. For all five Hungarian PV power plants under construction with a total installed capacity of 3.5 MWp, all components, including photovoltaic modules, have been secured and these projects are expected to be gridconnected without significant delays. The Operations & Maintenance business, is capable of providing its services either from home-offices, and if necessary, on-site as far as possible. The other business lines such as EPC services, PV component trading and project development are more vulnerable to these exceptional circumstances but did not come to a stall. In all main markets of the Group highly skilled local teams remaining focused on minimizing the impact on the ongoing business as well as various growth initiatives. The extent of the negative impact will depend on the further nature and length of measures taken by the respective governments in the countries where the Group is active.

#### **Capital management**

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the return to stakeholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The Group's overall strategy will unwind accordingly to the further negotiations with the Group's creditors.

The Group's net debt to adjusted equity ratio at the reporting date was as follows:

In thousand of EUR	2019	2018
Total liabilities	100,421	76,569
Less: cash and cash equivalents	15,104	12,340
Net debt	85,317	64,229
Total equity	37,843	29,779
Net debt to adjusted equity ratio at 31 December	2.25	2.16

There were no changes in the Group's approach to capital management during the year.

# 7. Operating segments

An operating segment is a component of the Group that engages in business activities from which it may earn revenues and incur expenses, including revenues and expenses that relate to transactions with any of the Group's other components. All operating segments' operating results are reviewed regularly by the Group's management and directors to make decisions about resources to be allocated to the segment and to assess its performance, and for which discrete financial information is available.

The Company's Management has assessed the Group's business from the segment reporting perspective and decided that the financial results of Photon Energy Group to be reported in segments from 1 January 2010.

As of 31 December 2013, Management Board has decided to decrease the number of segments reported:

The Management identified the following segments:

- Energy Solutions (wholesale and import of FVE components, engineering and construction services -turnkey photovoltaic systems' installations for external clients and Photon Energy),
- Production of electricity (includes SPE that finished building of photovoltaic power plants and those are connected to the distribution network and produce the electricity)

- FVE Investment This segment represents OCI of the Group flowing from the revaluation of the FVE producing the electricity and it is related to project companies that generate the revenues as shown in segment Production of electricity.
- Operations, maintenance and PVPP supervision
- Other, not related to any of the above mentioned segments.

Other operations include the water treatment business and other less significant activities. None of these operations meets any of the quantitative thresholds for determining reportable segments in 2019 or 2018.

Information regarding the results of each reportable segment is included below. Performance is measured based on segment profit after income tax, as included in the internal management reports that are reviewed by the Group's chief operating decision maker. Segment profit is used to measure performance as management believes that such information is the most relevant in evaluating the results of certain segments relative to other entities that operate within these industries.

# 7. Operating segments (continued)

# Information about reportable segments

## Operating segments for the period from 1 January 2019 to 31 December 2019

EUR thousand	Energy solutions	Production of electricity	Operations, maintenance and PVPP super- vision	PV Invest.	Other	Total for segments	Elimination	Consolidated financial information
External revenues from the sale of products, goods and services	12,916	14,299	2,667	0	272	30,154	0	30,154
Revenues within segments from sale of products, goods & services	30,870	0	1,384	0	5,577	37,831	-37,831	0
Cost of sale	-33,382	-964	-1,827	0	-311	-36,485	22,661	-13,824
Solar levy	0	-892	0	0	0	-892	0	-892
Gross profit	10,404	12,443	2,224	0	5,538	30,609	-15,170	15,439
Other external income	9	3	12	0	185	209	0	209
Administrative and other expenses	-3,783	-883	-2,813	0	-5,709	-13,188	5,483	-7,705
Depreciation	-32	-6,140	-238	0	-385	-6,795	0	-6,795
Operating income	6,598	5,423	-815	0	-371	10,835	-9,688	1,147
Interest income	185	391	126	0	3,348	4,050	-3,823	227
Interest expenses	-405	-2,012	-235	0	-4,620	-7,272	2,545	-4,726
Other financial revenues	84	24	49	0	350	507	0	507
Other financial expenses	-76	-199	-10	0	-241	-526	0	-526
Revaluation of derivatives	0	-30	0	0	0	-30	0	30
Profit/loss share in entities in equivalency	0	0	0	2	0	2	0	2
Disposal of investments	0	0	0	0	4,326	4,326	0	4,326
Income tax	-852	-557	0	0	-19	-1,428	0	-1,428
Deferred tax	0	-286	0	0	0	-286	0	-286
Profit/loss from discontinuing operations	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Profit/loss after taxation	5,534	2,754	-885	2	2,773	10,178	-10,966	-726
Revaluation of property, plant and equipment	0	8,549	0	0	0	8,549	0	8,549
Foreign currency translation diff foreign operations	0	231	0	0	0	231	0	231
Share of revaluation of PPE of associates /joint venture	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Share of currency translation diff. Of associates / JV	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Derivatives (hedging)	0	10	0	0	0	10	0	10
Total comprehensive income	5,534	11,544	-885	2	2,773	18,968	-10,966	8,064

EUR thousand	Energy solutions	Production of electricity	Operations, maintenance and PVPP super- vision	PV Invest.	Other	Total for segments	Elimination	Consolidated financial information
Assets, of which	37,884	116,729	10,154	2,666	108,569	276,002	-137,738	138,263
PPE – Lands	0	4,554	0	0	0	4,554	0	4,554
PPE – Photovoltaic power plants	0	91,886	0	0	0	91,886	0	91,886
PPE - Equipment	0	0	610	0	0	610	0	610
PPE – Assets in progress	1	3,117	629	0	0	3,747	0	3,747
Intangibles	0	0		0	0	0	0	0
Right of use-leased asset	0	1,814	0	0	1,200	3,014	0	3,014
Trade and other receivables	32,909	9,438	7,792	0	98,358	148,497	-137,738	10,759
Loans	0	0	0	0	1,027	1,027	0	1,027
Gross amount due from customers for contract work	1,968	75	0	0	414	2,457	0	2,457
Inventories – Goods	560	232	382	0	38	1,212	0	1,212
Investments in associates, JV, other	0	0		2,666	0	2,666	0	2,666
Deferred tax receivables	0	0		0	0	0	0	0
Long term receivables	0	0		0	0	0	0	0
Prepaid expenses	25	110	33	0	1,060	1,228	0	1,228
Assets held for sale	0	0		0	0	0	0	0
Cash and cash equivalents	2,421	5,503	708	0	6,472	15,104	0	15,104
Other S-T financial assets	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
						0		0
Liabilities, of which	-33,756	-70,918	-15,603	0	-117,105	-237,382	136,962	-100,421
Trade and other payables	-33,195	-20,317	-15,432	0	-76,592	-145,536	136,962	-8,574
Bank Loans and other loans	0	-41,238	0	0	0	-41,238	0	-41,238
Lease liability	0	-1,814		0	-1,228	-3,042	0	-3,042
Other long term liabilities	0	-592	-151	0	-39,329	-40,072	0	-40,072
Other short term liabilities	0	0		0	0	0	0	0
Current tax liabilities (income tax)	-561	412	-20	0	44	-125	0	-125
Provisions	0	0		0	0	0	0	0
Deferred tax liabilities		-7,369		0	0	-7,369	0	-7,369

## Operating segments for the period from 1 January 2018 to 31 December 2018

In thousand EUR	Energy solutions	Production of electricity	Operations, maint. and PVPP supervision	PV Invest.	Other	Total for segments	Elimination	Consolidated financial information
External revenues from sale of products, goods and services	5,241	12,537	2,200	0	278	20,256	0	20,256
Revenues within segments from sale of products, goods, services	17,966	299	912	0	4,552	23,728	-23,728	0
Cost of sale	-16,649	-1,180	-1,616	0	-178	-19,624	14,086	-5,539
Solar levy	0	-877	0	0	0	-877	0	-877
Gross profit	6,558	10,779	1,495	0	4,651	23,482	-9,643	13,840
Other external income	2	178	36	0	175	391	0	391
Administrative and other expenses	-3,200	-489	-2,277	0	-4,998	-10,965	4,879	-6,086
Depreciation	-10	-5,483	-76	0	-33	-5,602	0	-5,602
Operating income	3,350	4,985	-823	0	-206	7,306	-4,763	2,544
Interest income	80	301	54	0	592	1,028	-878	149
Interest expenses	-188	-1,851	-124	0	-2,403	-4,565	879	-3,687
Other financial revenues	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Other financial expenses	-259	-37	-44	0	-94	-434	0	-434
Revaluation of derivatives	0	171	0	0	0	171	0	171
Profit/loss share in entities in equivalency	0	0	0	23	0	23	0	23
Disposal of investment	0	0	0	0	3,074	3,074	0	3,074
Income tax	-219	-989	0	0	-9	-1,218	0	-1,218
Deferred tax	0	-112	0	0	0	-112	0	-112
Profit/loss from discontinuing operations	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Profit/loss after taxation	2,764	2,468	-937	23	955	5,273	-4,763	510
Revaluation of property, plant and equipment	0	2,366	0	0	0	2,366	0	2,366
Foreign currency translation diff foreign operations	0	-457	0	0	0	-457	0	-457
Share of revaluation of PPE of associates /joint venture	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Share of currency translation diff. of associates / JV	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Derivatives (hedging)	0	113	0	0	0	113	0	113
Total comprehensive income	2,764	4,489	-937	23	955	7,295	-4,763	2,531

	- 07					
Annual	report 2019					

In thousand EUR	Energy solutions	Production of electricity	Operations, maint. and PVPP supervision	PV Invest.	Other	Total for segments	Elimination	Consolidated financial information
Assets, of which	18,665	91,364	7,144	3,179	47,398	167,749	-61,402	106,348
PPE – Lands	0	3,615	0	0	451	4,066	0	4,066
PPE – Photovoltaic power plants	0	69,893	0	0	0	69,893	0	69,893
PPE – Equipment	0	453	0	0	107	560	0	560
PPE – Assets in progress	5	4,105	436	0	230	4,776	0	4,776
Intangibles	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Trade and other receivables	17,568	6,545	6,053	0	38,999	69,166	-61,402	7,764
Loans	0	0	0	0	840	840	0	840
Gross amount due from customers for contract work	277	0	0	0	310	587	0	587
Inventories – Goods	333	324	441	0	51	1,148	0	1,148
Investments in associates, JV, other	0	0	9	3,179	11	3,199	0	3,199
Deferred tax receivables	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Long term receivables	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Prepaid expenses	18	27	22	0	1,109	1,176	0	1,176
Assets held for sale	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Cash and cash equivalents	464	6,402	184	0	5,290	12,340	0	12,340
Other S-T financial assets	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Liabilities, of which	18,345	54,988	11,170	0	53,468	137,971	-61,402	76,569
Trade and other payables	17,981	14,970	11,054	0	21,741	65,745	-61,402	4,343
Bank Loans and other loans	0	32,936	0	0	0	32,936	0	32,936
Other long term liabilities	0	674	117	0	31,761	32,551	0	32,551
Other short term liabilities	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Current tax liabilities (income tax)	364	100	-1	0	-33	430	0	430
Provisions	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Deferred tax liabilities		6,308		0	0	6,308	0	6,308

# 7. Operating segments (continued)

All the operational segments are managed on an international basis (not on a country level). In 2019 the Group operated in the Czech Republic, Slovak Republic, Germany, Hungary, Australia, Switzerland, Peru and the Netherlands with headquarters in the Netherlands.

In 2019, revenues were generated in all above mentioned markets, except of the Netherlands and Peru. Non-current assets (power plants) are located in the Czech Republic, Slovak Republic, Hungary and Australia.

For the booking of transactions between the segments, the same rules for the recognition are applied as for the third parties.

In 2019, revenues increased in all the segments, except of Other and FVE Investments. When presenting geographical information below, segment revenue is based on the geographical location of entities generating the revenues. Segment assets are based on the geographical location of the assets.

#### Revenue

In thousand of EUR	2019	2018
The Czech Republic	20,183	13,835
The Slovak Republic	3,162	3,101
Australia	5,234	3,269
Germany	16	0
Hungary	1,559	51
Switzerland	0	0
Consolidated revenues	30,154	20,256

## Non-current assets (i)

In thousand of EUR	2019	2018
The Czech Republic	45,097	49,848
The Slovak Republic	17,901	16,203
Netherlands	12	0
Hungary	37,655	12,489
Australia	5,812	754
Total	106,477	79,294

**Note:** (i) Non-current assets presented consist mainly of property, plant and equipment (lands, photovoltaic power plants, other equipment, and assets under construction), and assets in progress.

#### Major customer

The Group has many customers. For the companies selling electricity, there is usually only one distribution company, which buys produced electricity. These local electricity distributors further deliver and resell electricity to final customers. Distribu-

tors are obliged to purchase all of the electricity production for the price based on Feed in Tariff prices. The Group as such is not dependent on any individual customer.

#### 8. Current assets held for sale

# Assets classified as held for sale

On 31 December 2019, the Company did not classify any assets as held for sale.

# Acquisitions of subsidiary and non-controlling interests;financial information for the joint ventures and associates

#### 9.1 Establishment of new subsidiaries

During 2019, Photon Energy N.V. (directly or via its subsidiaries) incorporated the following subsidiaries:

- PE SOLAR TECHNOLOGY LTD
- Ventiterra Alfa Környezetgazdálkodási és Szolgáltató Kft.
- Ventiterra Beta Környezetgazdálkodási és Szolgáltató Kft.

Ventiterra Alfa Kft. and Ventiterra Beta Kft. were demerged from Ventiterra Kft.

During 2018, Photon Energy N.V. (directly or via its subsidiaries) incorporated the following subsidiaries:

- Archway Solar Kft.
- Barbican Solar Kft.
- Belsize Solar Kft.
- Blackhorse Solar Kft.
- Caledonian Solar Kft
- Camden Solar Kft
- Hampstead Solar Kft.

#### 9.2 Acquisitions of subsidiaries

During 2019, Photon Energy N.V. (directly or via its subsidiaries) acquired the following entities:

- Aligoté Kereskedelmi és Szolgáltató Kft.Barbican Solar Kft
- MEDIÁTOR Ingatlanközvetítő és Hirdető Kft.
- PROMA Mátra Ingatlanfejlesztési Kft..
- Optisolar Kft.
- Ladány Solar Alpha Kft.
- Ladány Solar Beta Kft..
- Ladány Solar Gamma Kft.
- Ladány Solar Delta Kft.
- ÉGÉSPART Energiatermelő és Szolgáltató Kft
- ZEMPLÉNIMPEX Kereskedelmi és Szolgáltató Kft
- ZUGGÓ-DŰLŐ Energiatermelő és Szolgáltató Kft
- Ventiterra Környezetgazdálkodási és Szolgáltató Kft.
- Ektalion Investments S.A.

The total consideration paid for acquiring of the entities' shares equaled to EUR 2,133 thousands. Detail of the acquired entities as follows:

In thousand of EUR	
Long-term assets	8,583
Current assets	232
Cash	143
Short-term liabilities	7,451
Resources	145
L-T liabilities	1,162

The above mentioned entities incurred a profit of EUR 8 thousands.

During 2018, Photon Energy N.V. (directly or via its subsidiaries) acquired the following entities:

- Future Solar Energy Kft
- Montagem Befektetési Kft
- Solarkit Befektetesi Kft.
- Energy499 Invest Kft.
- SunCollector Kft.
- Green-symbol Invest Kft.
- Ekopanel Befektetési és Szolgaltató Kft.
- Onyx-sun Kft.
- Tataimmo Kft
- Öreghal Kft.
- European Sport Contact Kft.
- Ráció Master Kft.
- P&P Solar Immo Kft.
- ALFEMO Alpha Kft..
- ALFEMO Beta Kft.
- ALFEMO Gamma Kft.
- Photon Energy Peru S.C.A.

The total consideration paid for acquiring of the entities' shares equaled to EUR 1,300 thousands. Detail of the acquired entities as follows:

In thousand of EUR	
Long-term assets	404
Current assets	33
Cash	42
Short-term liabilities	161
Resources	518

The above mentioned entities incurred a loss of EUR 75 thousands consisting mainly from interest expenses and bank fees.

Photon Energy Peru S.C.A. was incorporated on behalf of the Company by Peruvian lawyers and transferred to the Company at nominal value immediately after.

#### Other developments in 2019

The following SPVs were renamed during 2019

- Biederman Holding N.V was renamed to Photon Remediation Technology N.V. as of 25 November 2019
- Photon Energy Finance EU GmbH was renamed to Photon Energy Technology EU GmbH as of 10 December 2019

During 2019, Company sold 3 joint ventures entities- Photon Energy AUS SPV 7- Gunnedah, Photon Energy SPV 8 – Suntop and Photon SPV AUS 9. The total consideration for sale of these three entities equaled to EUR 4,326 thousand.

#### Other developments in 2018

The following SPVs were renamed during 2018:

Photon Energy AUS SPV 5 was renamed to SUNTOP Stage 2 Solar Farm Pty Ltd.

- Photon Energy Generation Pty Ltd was renamed to GUNNING SOLAR FARM Pty Ltd.
- Photon Energy AUS SPV 7 Pty Ltd was renamed to -GUNNEDAH SOLAR FARM Pty Ltd.
- Photon Energy AUS SPV 8 Pty Ltd was renamed to SUN-TOP SOLAR FARM Pty Ltd.
- Photon Energy AUS SPV 10 Pty Ltd was renamed to MARYVALE SOLAR FARM Pty Ltd.

In January 2018, the Group has signed an agreement for the joint development of five of its utility scale solar projects with a total capacity of 1.14 GWp in New South Wales, Australia with Canadian Solar. Photon Energy's utility scale solar project pipeline, the largest pipeline in Australia, includes the 316 MWp project in Gunning as well as four projects co-developed with a local partner, namely the 178 MWp project in Mumbil, the 165 MWp project in Gunnedah, the 286 MWp project in Suntop and the 196 MWp project in Maryvale, all of which will be further codeveloped with Canadian Solar. Canadian Solar has acquired a 51% shareholding in all five project companies. Post-transaction, Photon Energy NV retains a 49% stake in the Gunning project and 24.99% stakes in the four other projects. Total income from the disposal of the stakes equalled to EUR 3,074 thousand.

# 9.3 Financial information for the joint ventures and associates

#### Joint ventures and associates

Investments in equity-accounted investees amounting to EUR 2,666 thousand (2018: EUR 3,179 thousand) represent the nominal share in the joint ventures and associates owned by the Group.

#### 2019:

In thousand of EUR	Photon SK SPV 1	Solarpark Myjava	Solarpark Polianka	PE AUS SPV 5 - Suntop II	PE AUS SPV 6	PE AUS SPV 10 Maryvale	PE Generation Aust. Gunning	P&P Solar Immo Kft	Total
Definition	joint venture	joint venture	joint venture	joint venture	joint venture	joint venture	joint venture	joint venture	
Share	50%	50%	50%	25%	51%	25%	49%	34%	
Share on equity	-582	-401	-684	-195	2	-256	-550	0	-2,666
Net profit	16	-19	8	0	-2	0	0	0	3
Share of profit	8	-9	4	-0	-1	-0	-0	0	2
Cash and cash equivalents	272	258	186	103	2	107	3	0	931
Current assets	317	308	245	104	3	120	3	0	1,101
Long-term assets	2,234	1,717	2,470	688	1,394	1,048	1,188	0	10,739
Current liabilities	-489	-291	-357	-13	-243	-145	-69	0	-1,606
Long-term liabilities	-916	-931	-1,004	0	0	0	0	0	-2,851
Expenses	373	441	360	1	2	1	1	0	1,178
Revenues	-389	-422	-370	0	0	0	0	0	-1,181

#### 2018:

In thousand of EUR	Photon SK SPV 1	Solarpark Myjava	Solarpark Polianka	PE AUS SPV 5 - Suntop II	PE AUS SPV 6	PE AUS SPV 7 - Gunnedah	PE AUS SPV 8 - Suntop	PE AUS SPV 9	PE AUS SPV 10 - Maryvale	PE Generation Aust. Gunning	P&P Solar Immo Kft	Total
Definition	joint venture	joint venture	joint venture	joint venture	joint venture	joint venture	joint venture	joint venture	joint venture	joint venture	joint venture	
Share	50%	50%	50%	25%	51%	25%	25%	51%	25%	49%	34%	
Share on equity	-593	-384	-686	-192	1	-300	-329	1	-184	-512	0	-3,179
Share of profit	15	25	-5	-2	1	-1	-2	-1	-2	-3	0	23
Cash and cash equivalents	205	236	240	325	5	19	45	5	91	85	0	1,257
Current assets	251	289	301	327	6	21	96	16	91	95	0	1,491
Long-term assets	2,405	1,924	2,654	541	1,147	1,225	1,421	280	848	1,051	0	13,495
Current liabilities	-401	-302	-409	-98	-203	-46	-201	-288	-202	-101	0	-2,251
Long-term liabilities	-1,086	-1,142	-1,189	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	-3,417
Expenses	367	383	392	7	2	6	7	1	7	7	0	1,178
Revenues	-397	-433	-382	0	0	-1	0	0	0	0	0	-1,213

All of the entities included in the above table are accounted for using the equity method of consolidation as at 31 December 2019 and have been accounted for in the financial year 2018 (SK SPVs) using the equity method as well. The joint ventures can

distribute profit only after agreement of the financing bank and the approval of the co-owner of the entity (via the general meeting, valid for SK SPVs).

#### Disposals in 2019

- On 30 June 2019, Photon Energy NV has sold its 25% interests in SUNTOP SOLAR FARM Pty Ltd.
- On 30 August 2019, Photon Energy NV has sold its 25% interests in GUNNEDAH SOLAR FARM Pty Ltd.
- On 27 December 2019, Photon Energy NV has sold its 51% interest in Photon Energy AUS SPV 9 Pty Ltd.

In thousand of EUR	SUNTOP SOLAR FARM	GUNNEDAH SOLAR FARM	Photon Energy AUS SPV 9	Total
Cash & cash held	35	123	0	158
Net assets	469	344	184	997
Local cost of FI	3,203	2,018	159	5,380
Sales price	3,203	2,018	159	5,380
Loss/profit from the sale	2,734	1,674	-25	4,383
Total consideration received in cash	3,203	2,018	159	5,380

#### Disposals in 2018

The Group did not dispose any entity during 2018.

#### 10. Revenue

In thousand of EUR	2019	2018
Sale of goods	6,184	2, 086
Rendering of services	9,671	5,633
Sale of electricity	14,299	12,537
	30,154	20,256

#### Revenues by geographical split:

In thousand of EUR	2019	2018
The Czech Republic	20,183	13,835
The Slovak Republic	3,162	3,101
Australia	5,234	3,269
Germany	16	0
Hungary	1,559	51
Consolidated revenues	30,154	20,256

The increase in revenues is a result of higher revenues in all the segments. Electricity production increased as a result of higher production. Additionally, the revenues from engineering and

O&M services, together with revenues from the sales of technology increased significantly compared to last year.

## 11. Cost of sales

Main expense' classes represent material consumed, cost of goods sold, 3rd party services received, depreciation and other expenses, such as travelling or representation costs.

In thousand of EUR	2019	2018
Material consumed	-198	-20
Goods (invertors, etc)	-9,765	-2,003
Services (3 <sup>rd</sup> party services received)	-3,860	-3,516
Other (representation, travelling, NBV of assets sold, etc)	0	0
Change of allowances for receivables/reserves	0	0
	-13,823	-5,539

Cost of sales consists mainly of material and goods necessary for construction of photovoltaic power plants and related services. Its increase is mainly caused by higher consumption of material,

goods and subcontracted services for the projects realized during 2019.

#### 11.1 Solar levy

In thousand of EUR	2019	2018
10%/26% solar levy	-892	-877
	-892	-877

For detailed information about the solar levy refer to Note 6.2.

#### 12. Other income

In thousand of EUR	2019	2018
Other income	209	392
	209	392

Other income included revenues from insurance compensation (EUR 32 thousands), government subsidy (EUR 76 thousand) and accrual for compensation of reconstruction works in new premises (EUR 101 thousands).

# 13. Other expenses

Other expenses comprise of other taxes, penalties and other minor expenses.

In thousand of EUR	2019	2018
Other taxes and fees	-51	-27
Insurance	-62	-102
Receivables write-off/allowance	-95	-220
Other expenses	-100	-24
	-308	-373

# 14. Administrative and personnel expenses

In thousand of EUR	2019	2018
Wages and salaries	-4,030	-3,000
Social and health insurance *	-600	-371
Consulting, legal and other administrative services	-2,767	-2,342
	-7,397	-5,713

<sup>\*</sup>Pension costs are integral part of social security expenses

On 31 December 2019 the Group employs 117 employees. 4 are employed in Slovakia by Slovak entities; 10 are employed in Hungary, 16 in Australia; 3 in Romania, 1 in Switzerland, 1 in the Netherlands and 2 in Peru. The remaining employees are employed in the Czech Republic.

Split per professional occupation is the following: 44 technical and engineering employees, 10 monitoring and SW development employees, 21 project/development managers, rest covers various back office professions, including accountants, lawyers, marketing, HR, sales support.

On 31 December 2018 the Group employs 92 employees. 4 are employed in Slovakia by Slovak entities; 5 are employed in Hun-

gary, 10 in Australia; 3 in Romania, 1 in Switzerland and 1 in the Netherlands. The remaining employees are employed in the Czech Republic.

Split per professional occupation is the following: 44 technical and engineering employees, 12 monitoring and SW development employees, 13 project/development managers, rest covers various back office professions, including accountants, lawyers, marketing, HR, sales support.

Rental expenses of the Group amount to EUR 353 thousand annually. The Company is involved in the long-term contract for rent of the office in Prague. Contract was concluded in 2019 and is concluded for 5 years.

# 15. Finance income and finance costs

In thousand of EUR	2019	2018
Interest income on loans and receivables	227	149
Finance income	507	-
Release of allowances	-	-
Profit from revaluation of derivatives	30	171
Finance income	764	320
Interest expense on loans and receivables	-4,726	-3,687
Net bank account fees	-202	-85
Fx Losses	-324	-349
Loss from revaluation of derivatives	-	-
VAT related interest costs	-	-
Finance costs	-5,252	-4,121
Net finance income / costs	-4,488	-3,801

# 16. Income tax expense

# 16.1 Income tax recognized in profit or loss

In thousand of EUR	2019	2018
Current tax expense		
Current year	-1,428	-1,218
Deferred tax expense		
Temporary differences (margin on PPV)	-286	-112
Total tax expense	-1,714	-1,331

# 16.2 Income tax recognized in other comprehensive income

In thousand of FUD	For the yea	r ended 31 Dece	mber 2019	For the year ended 31 December 2018			
In thousand of EUR	Before tax	Tax expense	Net of tax	Before tax	Tax expense	Net of tax	
Revaluation of property, plant and equipment	7,780	769	8,549	2,366	234	2,600	
Total deferred tax for the revaluation		-			-		

# 16.3 Reconciliation of effective tax rate

In thousand of EUR	%	2019
Profit before income tax		1,014
Tax using the Company's domestic tax rate	-25%	-258
Effect of tax rates difference in foreign jurisdictions	-12%	-122
Non-deductible expenses		
Interest expenses	-24%	-244
other	-30%	-304
Recognition of tax effect previously unrecognized tax losses	-149%	-1,514
Current year losses for which no deferred tax asset was recognized	0%	0
Total tax expenses		-1,428
In thousand of EUR	%	2018
Profit before income tax		1,934
Tax using the Company's domestic tax rate	-25%	-483
Effect of tax rates difference in foreign jurisdictions	-6%	-116
Non-deductible expenses		
Interest expenses	-12%	-233
other	-15%	-290
Recognition of tax effect previously unrecognized tax losses	-105%	-2,030
Recognition of tax effect previously unrecognized tax losses  Current year losses for which no deferred tax asset was recognized	-105% 0%	-2,030 0

# 17. Property, plant and equipment

In thousand of EUR	Land	Photovoltaic power plant	Other equipment	In progress	Total
Carrying amounts					
At 31 December 2018	4,066	69,893	560	4,776	79,294
At 31 December 2019	4,554	91,886	610	3,747	100,797
Gross revalued amount					
Balance at 1 January 2018	3,136	102,150	857	669	106,812
Other Additions	930	0	686	9,415	11,031
Transfer from assets in progress	0	5,308	0	-5,308	0
Disposals	0	0	0	0	0
Revaluation increase	0	2,366	0	0	2,366
Effect of movements in exchange rates	0	-1,142	-100	0	-1,242
Balance at 31 December 2018	4,066	108,682	1,443	4,776	118,967
Balance at 1 January 2019	4,066	108,682	1,443	4,776	118,967
Other Additions	488	0	375	17,772	18,860
Transfer from assets in progress	0	18,801	0	-18,801	0
Disposals	0	0		0	-125
Revaluation increase	0	9,333	0	0	7,597
Effect of movements in exchange rates	0			0	-100
Balance at 31 December 2019	4,554	136,816	1,818	3,747	145,199
Depreciation and impairment losses					
Balance at 1 January 2018	0	33,397	673	0	34,070
Depreciation for the year	0	5,392	210	0	5,602
Impairment loss	0	0	0	0	0
Effect of movements in exchange rates	0	0	0	0	0
Balance at 31 December 2018	0	38,789	883	0	39,672
Balance at 1 January 2019	0	38,789	883	0	39,672
Depreciation for the year	0	6,141	325	0	6,466
Impairment loss	0	0	0	0	0
Effect of movements in exchange rates	0	0	0	0	0
Balance at 31 December 2019	0	44,930	1208	0	46,138
Carrying amounts					
At 31 December 2018	4,066	69,893	560	4,776	79,294
At 31 December 2019	4,554	91,886	610	3,747	100,797

# 17. Property, plant and equipment (continued)

#### Revaluation details by power plants

In thousand of EUR	kWp	Net book value at costs as at	Net book value at FV as at	Net book value at costs as at	Net book value at FV as at	
Photovoltaic power plants		31 December 2019	31 December 2019	31 December 2018	31 December 2018	
Breclav rooftop	137	373	791	449	864	
Slavkov	1,159	536	2,983	836	3,879	
Dolni Dvoriste	1,645	352	3,706	708	5,564	
Komorovice	2,354	205	3,545	542	7,616	
Mostkovice	1,135	2,016	5,902	2,565	3,302	
Radvanice	2,305	663	4,650	1,107	7,612	
Svatoslav	1,231	2,580	6,962	3,240	4,068	
Zdice I	1,498	2,283	6,408	2,878	5,021	
Zdice II	1,498	1,040	4,113	1,419	4,966	
Zvikov	2,031	728	4,549	1,154	6,958	
Mokrá Lúka 1	990	924	1,365	1,048	2,102	
Mokrá Lúka 2	990	1,178	1,925	1,355	2,097	
Jovice 1	990	1,232	1,920	1,409	2,072	
Jovice 2	990	1,099	1,918	1,253	2,064	
Babina II	999	865	1,912	1,017	2,146	
Babina III	999	1,708	1,959	1,895	2,140	
Blatná	700	1,882	1,954	2,068	1,489	
Prsa I	999	1,356	1,787	1,662	2,094	
Fertod I	528	621	631	649	695	
Tiszakecske	5,512	4,380	8,167	4,659	7,213	
Almasfuzito	6,183	4,577	10,064	0	0	
Nagyecsed	2,067	1,667	2,531	0	0	
Fertod II	4,015	2,847	4,382	0	0	
Kunszentmarton	1,394	1,242	1,715	0	0	
Taszar	2,103	1,822	2,726	0	0	
Monor	3,487	3,940	7,434	0	0	
		41,114	95,999	31,912	73,959	

In 2019, the Company performed revaluation of the power plants in Hungary, total OCI coming from this transactions net of tax resulted in EUR 8,549 thousand. Total adjustment related to the revaluation of power plants equaled to EUR 9,333 thousand.

In 2018, company performed revaluation of the power plants in Hungary, total OCI coming from this transactions net of tax resulted in EUR 2,366 thousand. Total adjustment related to the revaluation of power plants equaled to EUR 7,908 thousand.

In 2019 the Group did not capitalize any borrowing cost into Property, plant and equipment (2018: EUR 0 thousand).

The Group has purchased several intangible assets, however these cannot be classified as intangible assets as they are considered to represent an inseparable part of photovoltaic power plants. These intangible assets mainly include rights to build the power plant, or rights to use land on which to build a power plant are classified as property plant and equipment. The total

amount of these rights amounted to EUR 32 thousand (2018: EUR 22 thousand).

#### Security

As at 31 December 2019 the following properties with a carrying amount of EUR 96,950 thousand (2018: EUR 66,051 thousand) are subject to a registered debenture to secure bank loans (see note  $\underline{24}$ ):

- Property, plant and equipment Lands in an amount of EUR 2,686 thousand pledged to RL, EUR 333 thousand pledged to UniCredit Bank Czech Republic and Slovakia a.s. and EUR 857 thousand to K&H Bank.
- Property, plant and equipment Photovoltaic power plants in an amount of EUR 43,609 thousand pledged to RL

- Property, plant and equipment Photovoltaic power plants in an amount of EUR 14,739 thousand pledged to UniCredit Bank Czech Republic and Slovakia a.s.
- Property, plant and equipment Photovoltaic power plants in an amount of EUR 37,651 thousand pledged to K&H Bank Hungary.

#### Property, plant and equipment under construction

Property, plant and equipment under construction equaled to the amount of EUR 4,554 thousand (2018: EUR 4,776 thousand) comprising mainly of power plants under construction in Hungary.

#### Sale of property, plant and equipment

In 2019, proceeds from sales of property, plant and equipment amounted to EUR 0 thousand (2018: EUR 0 thousand).

#### 18. Deferred tax assets and liabilities

#### Recognized deferred tax assets and liabilities

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are attributable to the following:

#### 2019:

in the around of FUD	Assets			Liabilities			Net		
In thousand of EUR	2019	y-y change	2018	2019	y-y change	2018	2019	y-y change	2018
Property, plant and equipment	2,466	306	2,160	-9,835	-1,367	-8,468	-7,369	-1,061	-6,308
Inventories (allowance)	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Construction contracts	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Receivables (allowances)	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Employee benefits	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Tax loss carry-forwards	0		0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Tax assets (liabilities)	2,466	306	2,160	-9,835	-1,367	-8,468	-7,369	-1,061	-6,308
Net tax assets (liabilities)	2,466	306	2,160	-9,835	-1,367	-8,468	-7,369	-1,061	-6,308

#### 2018:

	Assets			Liabilities			Net		
In thousand of EUR	2018	y-y change	2017	2018	y-y change	2017	2018	y-y change	2017
Property, plant and equipment	2,160	247	1,913	-8,468	-382	-8,086	-6, 308	-135	-6,153
Inventories (allowance)	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Construction contracts	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Receivables (allowances)	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Employee benefits	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Tax loss carry-forwards	0	-473	473	0	0	0	0	0	0
Tax assets (liabilities)	2,160	-226	2,386	-8,468	-382	-8,086	-6,308	-135	-6,153
Net tax assets (liabilities)	2,160	-226	2,386	-8,468	-382	-8,086	-6,308	-135	-6,153

# 18. Deferred tax assets and liabilities (continued)

# Movement in temporary differences during the year

In thousand of EUR	Balance as at 31 December 2017	Recognized in profit or loss	Recognized in OCI of which Fx translation	Recognized in OCI of which DT from revaluation	Balance as at 31 December 2018	Recognized in profit or loss	Recognized in OCI of which Fx translation	Recognized in OCI of which DT from revaluation	Balance as at 31 December 2019
Property, plant and equipment	-6,153	-112	-43	0	-6,308	-286	-6	-769	-7,369
Inventories (allowance)	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Construction contracts	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Receivables (allowance)	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Employee benefits	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Tax loss carry-forwards	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Total	-6,153	-112	-43	0	-6,308	-286	-6	-769	-7,369

#### 19. Inventories

In thousand of EUR	2019	2018
Goods	1,212	1,148
Gross amount due from customers (work in progress)	2,457	587
	3,669	1,735

Goods consist mainly of photovoltaic panels, invertors and other system components for photovoltaic power plants.

The cost of inventories recognized as an expense in cost of sales during the year in respect of continuing operations amounted to EUR 9,766 thousand (31 December 2018: EUR 2,003 thousand).

### 20. Trade and other receivables

#### **Trade receivables**

In thousand of EUR	Note	2019	2018
Trade receivables	<u>27.2</u>	4,788	2,394
Allowance for doubtful debts	<u>27.2</u>	-215	0
		4,573	2,394

The average credit period on sales of goods and services is 83 days. No interest is charged. The Group recognizes an allowance for doubtful debts according to individual assessment. If the receivables are individually not significant the Company recognizes a potential allowance for doubtful debts based on the collective assessment. However Company usually does not create allowances as the receivables are usually overdue 1-2 months.

During 2019 receivables with a total amount of EUR 95 thousand were written-off (2018: EUR 102 thousand).

The receivables include as well EUR 1,016 thousand in relation to the revenues, which were held back by ČEZ Prodej a.s. in the SPV 11 case at the end of the reporting period. The full amount was paid back on 24 March 2020. More detailed information on the case is given in Chapter 6.3 above.

#### Other receivables

In thousand of EUR	Note	2019	2018
Paid advances		2,791	1,782
Loans to directors	<u>28.1</u>	36	220
Loans to associates / joint ventures	<u>28.1</u>	36	46
Other receivables		3,323	3,322
Loans to related parties		1,027	840
		7,213	6,210

Other receivables includes mainly a VAT receivable (EUR 359 thousand); deferred revenue (EUR 632 thousand); revaluation of derivatives (EUR 197 thousand), rest is mainly represented by other loans provided to the 3<sup>rd</sup> parties.

Prepaid expenses as presented in the financial statements amounted to EUR 1,228 thousand in 2019 (2018: EUR 1,176 thousand) and include mainly bond-related costs (EUR 966 thousand).

# 21. Cash and cash equivalents

For the purposes of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand and at banks. Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the reporting period as

shown in the consolidated statement of cash flows can be reconciled to the related items in the consolidated statement of financial position as follows:

In thousand of EUR	2019	2018
Bank balances	15,104	12,340
Cash on hand	0	0
Cash and cash equivalents	15,104	12,340

Cash held by the SPVs under legal ownership of the RL is restricted only for certain transactions e.g. loan and related interest provided to those SPV's by Photon Energy N.V. is subordinated to the loan from RL and will be paid only after the

repayment of the RL loan. Total amount of the cash owned by these SPVs is EUR 2,737 thousand at 31 December 2019 (2018: EUR 4,634 thousand).

# 22. Capital and reserves

During 2018, transfer of shares between Free float and other shareholders and between Solar Age Investment B.V. and Solar Future Cooperatief U.A. and Solar Power to the People Cooperatief U.A. were performed within the capital structure of the Group. In 2019, no such transaction was performed.

#### Share capital and share premium

#### **Ordinary shares**

In shares	2019
On issue at 1 January 2019	60,000,000
On issue at 31 December – fully paid	60,000,000

The Company's share capital is EUR 600,000 divided into 60,000,000 shares with a nominal value of EUR 0.01 each. The share capital is fully paid-up.

#### **Ordinary shares**

All shares rank equally with regard to the Company's residual assets.

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time and are entitled to one vote per share at the shareholders' meetings of the Company.

As of 31 December 2019 the shareholder structure was as follows.

Shareholder	No. of shares	% of capital	No. of votes at Shareholders Meeting	% of votes at Shareholders Meeting
Solar Future Cooperatief U.A.	22,266,166	37.11%	22,266,166	43.52%
Solar Power to the People Cooperatief U.A.	20,843,375	34.74%	20,843,375	40.74%
Photon Energy N.V.	8,834,409	14.72%	0	0.00%
Free float	8,056,050	13.43%	8,056,050	15.75%
Total	60,000,000	100.00%	51,165,591	100.00%

Shareholder	No. of shares	% of capital	No. of votes at Shareholders Meeting	% of votes at Shareholders Meeting
Solar Future Cooperatief U.A.	22,266,182	37.11%	22,266,182	43.62%
Solar Power to the People Cooperatief U.A.	20,843,375	34.74%	20,843,375	40.84%
Photon Energy N.V.	8,955,934	14.93%	0	0.00%
Free float	7,934,509	13.22%	7,934,509	15.54%
Total	60,000,000	100.00%	51,044,066	100.00%

The Free float includes shares allocated to the employee incentive programme. The disposition rights to these shares are limited and employees can dispose of these shares only under specific conditions.

#### Reserves

The reserves relate to the legal reserve; the revaluation of property, plant and equipment - photovoltaic power plants the hedging reserve and the currency translation reserve. Refer below.

In thousand of EUR	2019	2018
Legal reserve fund	13	13
Revaluation reserve	29,220	22,935
Currency translation reserve	930	698
Hedging reserve	233	223
	30,396	23,870

#### Legal reserve fund

The legal reserve is a reserve required by the Czech commercial law and Slovak commercial law. It has been created from the prior years' profit of the Czech and Slovak entities based on the approval of the general meeting.

The legal reserve amounts to EUR 13 thousand at 31 December 2019 (2018: EUR 13 thousand).

#### **Revaluation reserve**

In thousand of EUR	2019	2018
Balance at beginning of year	22,935	22,506
Increase arising on revaluation of properties net of deferred tax	8,549	2,366
Share on revaluation of PPE of associates JV	0	0
Share of non-controlling interest	0	0
Increase arising on acquisition of properties-associates JV	0	0
Share on non-controlling interest	0	0
Impairment losses	0	0
Reversals of impairment losses	0	0
Move from revaluation reserve to retained earnings	-2,264	-1,936
NCI release	0	0
Balance at end of year	29,220	22,935

Annual report 2019

The revaluation reserve arises on the revaluation of photovoltaic power plants. The revaluation reserve is being released to the retained earnings during the duration of Feed-in-Tariff-currently 20 years in the Czech Republic, 15 years in Slovakia and up to 25 years in Hungary. The amount equal to the amount of depreciation coming from revaluation released in 2019 is equal to EUR 2,264 thousand (2017: EUR 1,936 thousand). The Group revalued its power plants newly built in Hungary, total revaluation net of deferred tax amounted to EUR 8,549 thousand. See note 16 and 17.

For NCI release description, refer to statement of changes in equity.

The revaluation reserve as such cannot be distributed only the amounts released to retained earnings can be distributed to the shareholder.

#### Foreign currency translation reserve

In thousand of EUR	2019	2018
Balance at beginning of year	698	1,155
Foreign currency translation differences for foreign operations	232	-457
Balance at end of year	930	698

The foreign currency translation reserve comprises all foreign currency differences arising from the translation of the financial statements of operations using different currency from Euro. It relates to Czech Republic, Hungary, Switzerland and Australia. This reserve cannot be distributed.

#### **Derivatives hedging reserve**

In thousand of EUR	2019	2018
Balance at beginning of year	223	110
Derivatives	10	113
Share on non-controlling interest	0	0
Share on derivatives joint ventures	0	0
Share on non-controlling interest	0	0
Release of non-controlling interest	0	0
Balance at end of year	233	223

Derivatives hedging reserve cannot be distributed.

#### **Dividends**

There were no dividends declared and paid by the Company in 2019 and 2018.

# 23. Earnings per share

In EUR	2019	2018
Basic earnings per share	-0.013	0.012
Diluted earnings per share	-0.011	0.010
Total comprehensive income per share	0.134	0.050

#### Basic earnings per share

The calculation of basic earnings per share at 31 December 2019 was based on the loss attributable to ordinary shareholders of EUR -683 thousand (2018: profit EUR 530 thousand) and a weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding of

51,116 thousand (2018: 51,298 thousand). The calculation of diluted earnings per share as 31 December 2019 was based on the loss attributable to ordinary shareholders of EUR -683 thousand (2018: profit EUR 530 thousand) and a weighted average number of total shares outstanding of 60,000 thousand.

#### Profit (loss) attributable to ordinary shareholders

In thousand of EUR	Profit (loss) attributable to ordinary shareholders		
	2019	2018	
Profit (loss) for the year	-683	530	
Profit (loss) attributable to ordinary shareholders	-683	530	

#### Weighted average number of ordinary shares

There were no new shares issued in 2019. The number of shares at the year-end 2019 was 60,000,000.

Share on profit of equity-accounted investees amounted to EUR 2 thousand (2018: EUR 23 thousand)

#### Basic and diluted total comprehensive income per share

The calculation of total comprehensive earnings per share (the calculation is the same for the diluted EPS) at 31 December 2019 and 2018 was based on the total comprehensive income (loss) attributable to ordinary shareholders of EUR 8,064 thousand (2018: EUR 2,552 thousand) and a weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding of 60,000 thousand (2018: 60,000 thousand).

# 24. Loans and borrowings

This note provides information about the contractual terms of the Group's interest-bearing loans and borrowings, which are measured at amortised cost.

In thousand of EUR	2019	2018
Non-current liabilities		
Long-term secured bank loans	37,589	29,250
Long-term portion of other loans	0	0
Total	37,589	29,250
Current liabilities		
Current portion of long-term secured bank loans	3,649	3,686
Short-term secured bank loans	0	0
Current portion of other loans	0	0
Total	3,649	3,686
Total loans & borrowings	41,238	32,936

#### Movement schedule for the bank loans:

In EUR	Short –term portion	Long-term portion
Opening balance as of 1.1.2019	3,686	29,250
New borrowings	-	15,996
Repayments	-212	-8,000
Fx impact	175	343
Closing balance as of 31.12.2019	3,649	37,589

#### Terms and debt repayment schedule

Terms and conditions of outstanding loans were as follows:

				31 Decer	mber 2019	31 December 2018		
In thousand of EUR	Currency	Nominal interest rate	Year of maturity	Credit limit	Credit limit	Credit limit	Credit limit	
Secured bank loan	CZK	5.19%	5.1.2021	17,704	17,704	23,399	23,399	
Secured bank loan	EUR	3M EURIBOR+2.7%	30.6.2024	3,885	3,885	4,679	5,452	
Secured bank loan	EUR	3M EURIBOR+2.7%	31.12.2024	4,107	4,107	4,858	5,589	
Secured bank loan	HUF	3M BUBOR+2.2%	4.5.2035	15,542	15,542	0	0	
Total interest bearing liabilities			41,238	41,238	32,936	34,440		

#### Other long-term liabilities (bonds)

In thousand of EUR	2019	2018
Non-current liabilities		
EUR bond	37,500	30,000
CZK bond	1,766	1,682
Total	39,266	31,682

All secured bank loans are secured by SPVs assets of power plants including real estate if any and technology receivables generated by power plants. In case of secured bank loans denominated in CZK nearly all power plants are cross-collateralized.

#### **Covenants**

The project financing sets certain operational conditions to be met by each power plant with Debt Service Coverage Ratio (DSCR) typically above 1.20.

All power plants met the DSCR criteria as of 31 December 2019.

In 2019, Photon Energy secured long-term non-recourse project financing for its Hungarian portfolio. The total amount withdrawn as of the year end 2019 equaled to EUR 15,542 thousand.

Financing is being provided by K&H Bank, the Hungarian subsidiary of Belgian KBC Group N.V. and one of Hungary's largest banking and financial services firms as well as a leading local player in project finance, for a period of 15 years.

#### **Bonds**

In October 2017, the Group has issued new EUR bonds with an annual coupon of 7.75% and maturity in October 2022. Outstanding amount as of 31 December 2019 was EUR 37,500 thousand. CZK bond issued in October 2016 has an annual coupon of 6% and maturity date in October 2023, with an outstanding amount of EUR 1,766 thousand as of 31 December 2019.

# 25. Trade and other payables

#### **Trade payables**

In thousand of EUR	2019	2018
Payables to suppliers	3,484	1,166
	3,484	1,166

#### Other payables

In thousand of EUR	2019	2018
Advances received	625	1,205
Accrued expenses	2,431	580
Payables to employees	416	281
Payables to health and social authorities	10	9
Derivatives	0	0
Other payables-loans	1,608	1,102
	5,090	3,177

Advances received from customers for contract work amounted to EUR 625 thousand (31 December 2018: EUR 1,205 thousand). Accrued expenses include mainly not invoiced deliveries of goods (technology) and services provided and amounted to EUR 2,431 thousand (31 December 2018: EUR 580 thousand). Payables to employees and health and social authorities amount to EUR 426 thousand. Other payables-loans represented loans provided by originally intercompany companies that were sold out of the group during. An interest charge of 3% was applied to the outstanding balances. These are not classified as loans and

borrowing as they have not been provided by financial institution or a bank but former subsidiaries. At 31 December 2019 retentions held by customers for contract work amounted to EUR 0 thousand (31 December 2018: EUR 0 thousand).

# 26. Other long-term and short-term liabilities

#### **26.1** Other long term liabilities

In thousand of EUR	2019	2018
VAT payables	0	0
Long term liability from income tax	0	0
Other long-term loans	0	0
Other long-term liabilities	806	869
Bond	39,266	31,682
	40,072	32,551

#### Movement schedule:

In EUR	Short -term portion	Long-term portion
Opening balance as of 1.1.2019	30,000	1,682
New borrowings	7,500	84
Repayments	-	-
Closing balance as of 31.12.2019	37,500	1,766

December 2016 the Company placed a 6% CZK corporate bond in the Czech Republic. The bond is listed on the Prague Stock Exchange. The bond coupon is paid monthly and the bond is due in 7 years from issuance. The balance of this bond as of the yearend 2019 is equal to EUR 1,766 thousand.

In October 2017, the group has launched the process of exchange offer and issuance of a new EUR bond. Annual interest is 7.75%, the bond coupon is paid quarterly and it is due in 5 years. The outstanding amount of the bond is EUR 37,500 thousand as of 31 December 2019. Other long-term liabilities include leasing liabilities and provision for liquidation of panels in the future.

#### 26.2 Other short term liabilities

In thousand of EUR	2019	2018
VAT liability /provision	0	0
Other liabilities	0	0
Other loans	0	0
	0	0

There were no short term liabilities in 2019 and 2018.

# 26.3 Current tax liability

Other liabilities in amount of EUR 125 thousand represent payable for other taxes. This liability relates mainly to the Czech SPVs and one Hungarian entity and is result of their actual annual result.

#### 27. Financial instruments

The major financial risks faced by the Company are those related to credit exposures, exchange change risk, interest rate risk and solar levy risk. These risks are managed in the following manner.

#### 27.1 Liquidity Risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The Group's approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without incur-

ring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Company's reputation.

The following are the contractual maturities of financial liabilities including estimated interest payments and excluding the impact of netting agreements.

Total current assets of the Group as of 31 December 2019 equals to EUR 31,832 thousand comparing to contractual cash flows of non-derivative financial liabilities of EUR 12,392 thousand payable within the next 12 months.

#### 31 December 2019

In thousand of EUR	Carrying amount	Contractual cash flows	1 – 12 months	1 – 2 years	2 – 5 years	More than 5 years
Non-derivative financial liabilities						
Secured bank loans	41,238	44,583	5,964	17,940	9,203	11,476
Trade payables	3,484	3,484	3,484	0	0	0
Bond	39,266	48,409	3,012	3,012	42,384	0
Other payables	5,090	5,090	5,090	0	0	0
Other long-term liabilities	806	830	330	400	100	
Tax payables	125	125	125	0	0	0
	90,009	102,521	18,005	21,352	51,687	11,476

#### 31 December 2018

In thousand of EUR	Carrying amount	Contractual cash flows	1 – 12 months	1 – 2 years	2 – 5 years	More than 5 years
Non-derivative financial liabilities						
Secured bank loans	32,936	34,325	4,101	4,232	24,276	1,715
Trade payables	1,166	1,166	1,166	0	0	0
Bond	31,682	44,093	2,426	2,426	37,278	1,963
Other payables	3,177	3,177	3,177	0	0	0
Tax payables	430	430	430	0	0	0
	69,391	83,191	11,300	6,658	61,554	3,678

# 27. Financial instruments (continued)

#### 27.1 Liquidity risk (continued)

It is not expected that the cash flows included in the maturity analysis could occur significantly earlier, or at significantly different amounts.

#### Effective interest rates and re-pricing analysis

In respect of interest-bearing financial liabilities, the following tables indicate their effective interest rates at the reporting date and the periods in which they re-price. The table includes only loans with variable interest rate and the balance is shown in a

period within 6 months, as the interest rate is changed within this period.

For 2019, none of the bank loans have a variable interest rate (the Czech portfolio has a fixed interest rate and the Slovak and Hungarian portfolio interest rates are hedged for the most part), therefore the table below includes only those hedged (Slovak SPVs).

#### 2019:

In thousand of EUR	Effective interest rate	Total	6 months or less	6-12 months	1–5 years	Fixed interest rate
Bank loans	2.93%	-23,533	-23,533	0	0	0
Total		-23,533	-23,533	0	0	0

#### 2018:

In thousand of EUR	Effective interest rate	Total 6 months or less		6–12 months 1–5 years		Fixed interest rate
Bank loans	2.78%	-9,537	-9,537	0	0	0
Total		-9,537	-9,537	0	0	0

#### 27.2 Credit risk

#### **Exposure to credit risk**

Credit risk is the risk that counterparty fails to discharge an obligation to the Group.

The group is exposed to credit risk from financial assets including cash and cash equivalents held at banks, trade and other receivables.

Credit risk in respect of cash balances held with banks and deposits with banks are managed via diversifications of bank deposits and only with the major reputable financial institutions. Trade receivables consist of a large number of customers in various geographical areas. The Group applies simplified model of recognising lifetime expected credit losses for all trade receivables as these items do not have a significant financing component. As the collectability of the receivables is overall high, management does not apply general percentage of allowance on the overdue receivables. Creation of allowances is done after individual assessment of the overdue outstanding balances.

#### Trade receivables

In thousand of EUR	2019	2018
Financial assets		
Not due yet	108	534
Overdue 180 days or less	3,589	908
Overdue over 180 days	1,091	952
Total	4,788	2,394

In thousand of EUR	2019	2018
Out of which		
Overdue 180 days or less	0	0
Overdue over 180 days	0	0
Impairment loss to trade receivables overdue 360 days	0	0
Total overdue impaired	215	368
Total overdue not impaired	4,250	1,544
Total financial assets after impairment	4,573	2,394

In thousand of EUR	2019
Allowance for receivables as at 31 December 2018	85
Creation of allowance in 2019	130
Allowance for receivables as at 31 December 2019	215

The Group believes that the other unimpaired amounts that are past due by more than 30 days are still collectible based on

historic payment behavior; business relationships or management judgment.

#### 27.3 Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in market interest rates. It is measured by the extent to which changes in market interest rates impact on net interest expense.

At the reporting date the interest rate profile of the Group's interest-bearing financial instruments was:

In thousand of CUD	Carrying amount			
In thousand of EUR	2019	2018		
Interest rate instruments				
Financial assets	0	0		
Financial liabilities	-41,238	-32,936		
	-41,238	-32,936		

Financial liabilities comprise short-term and long-term bank loans (see note 24).

In respect of interest-bearing financial liabilities, the following table indicates their effective interest rates at the balance sheet date and also due date of loans based on the valid repayment schedules:

#### Interest bearing financial liabilities

#### 31 December 2019

In thousand of EUR	Effective interest rate	Total Less than 2–5 years		More than 5 years	
Bank and other loans	2.93%	41,238	4,828	25,078	11,332
Total		41,238	4,828	25,078	11,332

#### 31 December 2018

In thousand of EUR	Effective interest rate	Total	Total Less than 2–5 y		More than 5 years
Bank and other loans	4.53%	32,936	4,093	28,497	1,714
Total		32,936	4,093	28,497	1,714

#### Loans and borrowings with variable rate

Below analysis includes only loans with a variable interest rate.

For 2019 the Czech portfolio has a fixed interest rate, the Slovak and Hungarian portfolio has a variable interest rate that is hedged for the most part.

#### 2019:

In thousand of EUR	Effective interest rate	Total	6 months or less		1–5 years	Fixed interest rate
Bank loans	2.93%	-23,533	-23,533	0	0	0
Total		-23,533	-23,533	0	0	0

#### 2018:

In thousand of EUR	Effective interest rate	Total	6 months or less	6-12 months	1–5 years	Fixed interest rate
Bank loans	2.56%	-9,537	-9,537	0	0	0
Total		-9,537	-9,537	0	0	0

# Loans and borrowings with variable rate – Slovak portfolio

Slovak loans interest rate is hedged by the interest derivatives.

On 31 December 2019 the total amount of the hedging reserve amounted to EUR 233 thousand (2018: EUR 223 thousand)

# Loans and borrowings with variable rate 2019:

In EUR thousand	Carrying	Carrying Contractual cash flow						
<b>Derivatives financial liabilities</b>	amount	Total	1 year	2 years	3 year	4 years	5 years	
Interest rate swaps used for hedging	133	166	96	70	0	0	0	

#### 2018:

In EUR thousand	Carrying	Contractual cash flow					
Derivatives financial liabilities	amount	Total	1 year	2 years	3 year	4 years	5 years
Interest rate swaps used for hedging	178	293	127	96	70	0	0

The effect on equity would be the same as the effect on profit or loss. In the calculation, the assumptions that current debt maturing in 2019 will be rolled over in that period.

Actual interest expenses related to bank loans and borrowings incurred by the Company in 2019 were EUR 4,726 thousand (2018: EUR 1,833 thousand) coming from the carrying value of loans drawn in the amount of EUR 41,238 thousand as at 31 December 2019 (2018: EUR 32,936 thousand).

An increase/decrease of interest rates by 1% at the reporting date would have decreased/increased the profit before tax by EUR 69 thousand as shown in the following table. This analysis assumes that all other variables remain constant.

31. 12. 2019	Effective interest rate	Total	Interest (calculated)	Effective interest rate	Interest (calculated)	Additional PL effect	Effective interest rate	Interest (calculated)	Additional PL effect
Bank loans with variable rate	2.93	23,533	689	3.22	758	-69	2.63	620	69
Total		23,533	689			-69			69

31. 12. 2018	Effective interest rate	Total	Interest (calculated)	Effective interest rate	Interest (calculated)	Additional PL effect	Effective interest rate	Interest (calculated)	Additional PL effect
Bank loans with variable rate	4.53	32,936	1,490	4.57	1,505	-15	4.48	1,476	15
Total		32,936	1,490			-15			15

#### 27.4 Exchange rate risk

The Company's functional currency of its major subsidiaries is EUR and CZK. Foreign exchange risk is associated with sales and purchases of goods and services and loans received denominated in local currencies.

An increase/decrease of exchange rates by 10% at the reporting date would have decreased/increased the profit before tax by EUR 4,349 thousand (EUR 5,315 thousand respectively) as shown in the following table. This analysis assumes that all other variables remain constant.

#### 2019

	31 December 2019	+ 10%	- 10%
CZK/EUR	25.408	27.949	22.867
HUF/EUR	330.530	363.583	297.477

31.12.2019	Currency	in Currency	teur	Teur +10%	change	teur -10%	change
Trade receivables	TCZK	215,589	8,485	7,714	-771	9,428	943
Trade receivables	THUF	3,979,852	12,041	10,946	-1,095	13,379	1,338
Total TCZK					-1,866		2,281

31.12.2019	Currency	in Currency	teur	Teur +10%	change	teur -10%	change
Trade receivables and payables and loans	TCZK	-650,024	-25,583	-23,258	2,326	-28,426	-2,843
Trade receivables and payables and loans	THUF	-14,139,447	-42,778	-38,889	3,889	-47,531	-4,753
Total TCZK					6,215		-7,596

#### 2018

	31 December 2017	+ 10%	- 10%	'			
exchange rate CZK/EUR	25.724	28.2964	23.1516				
31.12.2018	Currency	in Currency	teur	Teur +10%	change	teur -10%	change
Trade receivables	TCZK	39,663	1,542	1,402	-140	1,713	171
Total TCZK					-140		171
31.12.2018	Currency	in Currency	teur	Teur +10%	change	teur -10%	change
Trade payables, loans	TCZK	-47,477	-1,846	-1,678	168	-2,051	-205
Total TCZK					168		-205

# 27.5 Accounting classifications and fair values

#### Fair values vs. carrying amounts

The fair values of financial assets and liabilities together with the carrying amounts shown in the statement of financial position

are as follows. For the other financial assets/financial liabilities, the fair value approximates the carrying amount.

#### 31 December 2019

In thousand of EUR	Note	Derivatives used for hed- ging FVOCI	Amortised cost	Amortised cost	Total	Fair value
Cash and Cash equivalents	21	0	15,104	0	15,104	15,104
Loans and receivables	20	0	11,804	0	11,804	11,786
Secured bank loans	24	0	0	41,238	41,238	41,238
Trade payables	<u>25</u>	0	0	3,421	3,421	3,484
Bond	26	0	39,266	0	39,266	39,266
Other payables	<u>25</u>	0	0	5,198	5,198	5,090
Tax payables	26.3	0	0	125	125	125
Interest rate derivatives	4.3.2	133	0	0	133	133

#### **31 December 2018**

In thousand of EUR	Note	Derivatives used for hed- ging FVOCI	Amortised cost	Amortised cost	Total	Fair value
Cash and Cash equivalents	21	0	12,340	0	12,340	12,340
Loans and receivables	20	0	8,605	0	8,605	8,605
Secured bank loans	24	0	0	32,936	32,936	32,936
Trade payables	<u>25</u>	0	0	1,166	1,166	1,166
Bond	<u>26</u>	0	31,682	0	31,682	31,682
Other payables	<u>25</u>	0	0	3,177	3,177	3,177
Tax payables	26.3	0	0	430	430	430
Interest rate derivatives	4.3.2	177	0	0	177	177

The interest rates used to discount estimated cash flows, where applicable, are based on the government yield curve at the end of the reporting period plus an appropriate credit spread discount rate used equalled to 2.93% for 2019.

#### Fair value hierarchy

The table above analyses financial instruments carried at fair value by the levels in the fair value hierarchy. The different levels have been defined as follows.

Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices).

Level 3: inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).

#### 31 December 2019

In thousand of EUR	Level 1	Level 2	Level 3	Total
Cash and Cash equivalents	0	15,104	0	15,104
Loans and receivables	0	11,804	0	11,786
Secured bank loans	0	41,238	0	41,238
Trade payables	0	3,421	0	3,484
Bond	0	39,266	0	39,266
Other payables	0	5,198	0	5,090
Tax payables	0	125	0	125
Interest rate derivatives	0	133	0	133

#### **31 December 2018**

In thousand of EUR	Level 1	Level 2	Level 3	Total
Cash and Cash equivalents	0	12,340	0	12,340
Loans and receivables	0	8,605	0	8,605
Secured bank loans	0	32,936	0	32,936
Trade payables	0	1,166	0	1,166
Bond	0	31,682	0	31,682
Other payables	0	3,177	0	3,177
Tax payables	0	430	0	430
Interest rate derivatives	0	177	0	177

The below analysis shows impact of change in discount rate by +/-3% on the enterprise/entity value in absolute and relative figures as of 31.12.2019.

Sensitivity analysis of DCF for powerplants

In thousand of EUR	Discount rate +3%	Discount rate +3% in %	Discount rate -3%	Discount rate -3% in %
HU powerplants	-3,791	-45%	5,293	63%
CZ powerplants	-5,418	-13%	6,852	21%
SK powerplants	-972	-13%	1,126	15%

All financial assets and financial liabilities (refer to Note 4.3.4) have been defined to Level 2.

Assumptions used for calculating revalued amounts of PPE (level 3) are as follows:

The DCF Equity valuation method is based on a Discounted Cash Flow method. It includes the future cash flows available to the shareholders/providers of equity of photovoltaic projects (i.e. after all debt repayments and interests) that are later discounted by respective discount rates. The risk profile is represented

by a discount rate (cost of equity levered). Due to existence of senior project finance the cost of equity calculated by CAPM formula is adjusted by Miller-Modigliani formula to achieve the most precise cost of equity levered for each project respecting it unique capital structure.

In the valuation model, a quarterly discount is applied. This is based on the fact that debt repayments are happening on quarterly basis. This is effecting the overall change in financing structure and indirectly effecting cost of equity levered.

# 28. Related parties

Balances and transactions between the Company and its subsidiaries which are related parties of the Company have been eliminated on consolidation and are not disclosed in this note. Details of transactions between the Group and other related parties are disclosed below.

#### 28.1 Parent and ultimate controlling party

The Company is jointly controlled by Mr. Michael Gartner (via Solar Future Coöperatief U.A. ) and Mr. Georg Hotar (via Solar

Power to the People Coöperatief U.A..), who are the Company's directors.

The original lender (loans provided to the Directors) has been sold out of the Group in December 2012. However, the Group has provided the following loans to the above directors in compliance with the arm-length principle:

In thousand of EUR	2019	2018
Balance at beginning of year	219	153
Transferred due to the sale	0	0
Loan provided to Mr. Hotar	14	77
Unpaid interests from Mr. Hotar	0	0
Loan provided to Mr. Gartner	0	0
Unpaid interests from Mr. Gartner	0	0
Effect of the movement of Fx rate	0	-13
Carrying amount at 31 December	233	219

Members of the board of directors did not receive any compensation during 2019 nor 2018 for their duties serving on the board of directors for the Group of entities. There were no trade relations between the Group and members of the board of directors of the Company.

The total outstanding loan from the related parties above the structure of Photon Energy N.V. equals to EUR 156 thousand as of 31 December 2019.

## Other related party transactions

In thousand of EUR	transaction value for the year-ended		balance outstanding at the year-end	
	2019	2018	2019	2018
Sale of goods and services				
Joint ventures – sale of services	0	0	0	0
Joint ventures – construction contracts revenues	0	0	0	0
(SK SPV1, Solarpark Myjava, Solarpark Polianka, AUS SPVs)				
Purchase of goods and services				
Joint ventures – purchase of services	48	49	0	0
Joint ventures – purchase of services activated (AUS SPVs)	451	4,485	53	4,485
Current assets				
Loans	0	0	0	0

Related party transactions were made on terms equivalent to those that prevail in arm's length transactions.

# 29. Group entities

#### **Subsidiaries**

The following subsidiaries are consolidated as at 31 December 2019.

	Name	% of share capital held by the holding company	Country of registration	Consolid. method	Legal Owner
1	Photon Energy N.V. (PENV)	Holding	NL	Full Cons.	-
2	Photon Directors B.V.	100%	NL	Full Cons.	PENV
3	Photon Energy Engineering B.V. (PEE BV)	100%	NL	Full Cons.	PENV
4	Photon Energy Operations N.V. (PEO NV)	100%	NL	Full Cons.	PENV
5	Photon Remediation Technology N.V.	100%	NL	Full Cons.	KORADOL
6	Photon Energy Australia Pty Ltd.	100%	AUS	Full Cons.	PENV
7	Gunning Solar Farm Pty. Ltd. (former Photon Energy Generation Australia Pty. Ltd.)	49%	AUS	Equity	PENV
8	Photon Energy AUS SPV 1 Pty. Ltd.	100%	AUS	Full Cons.	PENV
9	Photon Energy AUS SPV 2 Pty. Ltd.	100%	AUS	Full Cons.	PENV
10	Photon Energy AUS SPV 3 Pty. Ltd.	100%	AUS	Full Cons.	PENV
11	Photon Energy AUS SPV 4 Pty. Ltd.	100%	AUS	Full Cons.	PENV
12	Suntop Stage 2 Solar Farm Pty. Ltd. (former Mumbil Solar Farm Pty. Ltd.)	25%	AUS	Equity	PENV
13	Photon Energy AUS SPV 6 Pty. Ltd.	51%	AUS	Equity	PENV
14	Maryvale Solar Farm Pty. Ltd. (former Photon Energy AUS SPV 10 Pty. Ltd.)	25%	AUS	Equity	PENV
15	Photon Energy Operations Australia Pty.Ltd.	100%	AUS	Full Cons.	PEONV
16	Photon Energy Engineering Australia Pty Ltd	100%	AUS	Full Cons.	PEEBV
17	Global Investment Protection AG (GIP)	100%	СН	Full Cons.	PENV
18	ALFEMO AG (ALFEMO)	100%	СН	Full Cons.	PENV
19	KORADOL AG (KORADOL)	100%	СН	Full Cons.	PENV
20	Photon Energy Corporate Services CZ s.r.o.	100%	CZ	Full Cons.	PENV
21	Photon SPV 1 s.r.o.	100%	CZ	Full Cons.	PENV
22	Photon SPV 11 s.r.o.	100%	CZ	Full Cons.	KORADOL
23	Photon Energy Operations CZ s.r.o. (PEOCZ) <sup>1</sup>	100%	CZ	Full Cons.	PEONV
24	Photon Energy Control s.r.o.	100%	CZ	Full Cons.	PEOCZ
25	Photon Energy Technology CEE s.r.o.	100%	CZ	Full Cons.	PEEBV
26	Photon Water Technology s.r.o.	65%	CZ	Full Cons.	PENV
27	Photon Remediation Technology Europe s.r.o.	100%	CZ	Full Cons.	PE NV
28	Photon Energy Solutions s.r.o.	100%	CZ	Full Cons.	PENV
29	Photon Energy Projects s.r.o. (PEP)	100%	CZ	Full Cons.	PENV
30	Photon Energy Cardio s.r.o.	100%	CZ	Full Cons.	PEOCZ
31	The Special One s.r.o.	100%	CZ	Full Cons.	PENV
32	Photon Energy Technology EU GmbH	100%	DE	Full Cons.	PENV
33	Photon Energy Corporate Services DE GmbH	100%	DE	Full Cons.	PENV
34	Photon Energy Engineering Europe GmbH	100%	DE	Full Cons.	PEEBV
35	EcoPlan 2 s.r.o.	100%	SK	Full Cons.	PENV
36	EcoPlan 3 s.r.o.	100%	SK	Full Cons.	PENV
37	Fotonika s.r.o.	100%	SK	Full Cons.	PENV
38	Photon SK SPV 1 s.r.o.	50%	SK	Equity	PENV
39	Photon SK SPV 2 s.r.o.	100%	SK	Full Cons.	PENV
40	Photon SK SPV 3 s.r.o.	100%	SK	Full Cons.	PENV
41	Solarpark Myjava s.r.o.	50%	SK	Equity	PENV
42	Solarpark Polianka s.r.o.	50%	SK	Equity	PENV
43	SUN4ENERGY ZVB s.r.o.	100%	SK	Full Cons.	PENV
44	SUN4ENERGY ZVC s.r.o.	100%	SK	Full Cons.	PENV
45	ATS Energy, s.r.o.	100%	SK	Full Cons.	PENV
46	Photon Energy Operations SK s.r.o.	100%	SK	Full Cons.	PEONV
47	Photon Energy HU SPV 1 Kft. b.a	100%	HU	Full Cons.	ALFEMO
48	Fertod Napenergia-Termelo Kft.	100%	HU	Full Cons.	ALFEMO
49	Photon Energy Operations HU Kft.	100%	HU	Full Cons.	PEONV
50	Photon Energy Solutions HU Kft.	100%	HU	Full Cons.	PENV
51	Future Solar Energy Kft	100%	HU	Full Cons.	ALFEMO
52	Montagem Befektetési Kft.	100%	HU	Full Cons.	ALFEMO
53	Solarkit Befektetesi Kft.	100%	HU	Full Cons.	ALFEMO
54	Energy499 Invest Kft.	100%	HU	Full Cons.	ALFEMO
55	SunCollector Kft.	100%	HU	Full Cons.	ALFEMO
56	Green-symbol Invest Kft.	100%	HU	Full Cons.	ALFEMO
57	Ekopanel Befektetési és Szolgaltató Kft.	100%	HU	Full Cons.	ALFEMO

	Name	% of share capital held by the holding company	Country of registration	Consolid. method	Legal Owner
58	Onyx-sun Kft.	100%	HU	Full Cons.	ALFEMO
59	Tataimmo Kft	100%	HU	Full Cons.	ALFEMO
60	Öreghal Kft.	100%	HU	Full Cons.	ALFEMO
61	European Sport Contact Kft.	100%	HU	Full Cons.	ALFEMO
62	ALFEMO Alpha Kft.	100%	HU	Full Cons.	ALFEMO
63	ALFEMO Beta Kft.	100%	HU	Full Cons.	ALFEMO
64	ALFEMO Gamma Kft.	100%	HU	Full Cons.	ALFEMO
65	Archway Solar Kft.	100%	HU	Full Cons.	PENV
66	Barbican Solar Kft.	100%	HU	Full Cons.	ALFEMO
67	Belsize Solar Kft.	100%	HU	Full Cons.	ALFEMO
68	Blackhorse Solar Kft.	100%	HU	Full Cons.	ALFEMO
69	Caledonian Solar Kft	100%	HU	Full Cons.	ALFEMO
70	Camden Solar Kft	100%	HU	Full Cons.	ALFEMO
71	Hampstead Solar Kft.	100%	HU	Full Cons.	ALFEMO
72	Ráció Master Oktatási	100%	HU	Full Cons.	ALFEMO
73	P&P Solar Immo Kft.	33,52%	HU	Equity	ALFEMO
74	Aligoté Kereskedelmi és Szolgáltató Kft.	100%	HU	Full Cons.	ALFEMO
75	MEDIÁTOR Ingatlanközvetítő és Hirdető Kft.	100%	HU	Full Cons.	ALFEMO
76	PROMA Mátra Ingatlanfejlesztési Kft.	100%	HU	Full Cons.	ALFEMO
77	Optisolar Kft.	100%	HU	Full Cons.	ALFEMO
78	Ladány Solar Alpha Kft.	100%	HU	Full Cons.	PEP
79	Ladány Solar Beta Kft.	100%	HU	Full Cons.	PEP
80	Ladány Solar Gamma Kft.	100%	HU	Full Cons.	PEP
81	Ladány Solar Delta Kft.	100%	HU	Full Cons.	PEP
82	ÉGÉSPART Energiatermelő és Szolgáltató Kft	100%	HU	Full Cons.	ALFEMO
83	ZEMPLÉNIMPEX Kereskedelmi és Szolgáltató Kf	100%	HU	Full Cons.	ALFEMO
84	ZUGGÓ-DŰLŐ Energiatermelő és Szolgáltató Kft	100%	HU	Full Cons.	ALFEMO
85	Ventiterra Környezetgazdálkodási és Szolgáltató Kft.	100%	HU	Full Cons.	ALFEMO
86	VENTITERRA ALFA Kft.	100%	HU	Full Cons.	ALFEMO
87	VENTITERRA BETA Kft.	100%	HU	Full Cons.	ALFEMO
88	EKTALION INVESTMENTS S.A.	100%	PL	Full Cons.	PE NV
89	Photon Energy Peru S.C.A.	99%	PE	Full Cons.	GIP
90	PE SOLAR TECHNOLOGY LTD.	100%	UK	Full Cons.	PENV

The following subsidiaries are consolidated as at 31 December 2018.

	Name	% of share capital held by the holding company	Country of registration	Consolid. method	Legal Owner
1	Photon Energy N.V. (PENV)	Holding	NL	Full Cons.	-
2	Photon Directors B.V.	100%	NL	Full Cons.	PENV
3	Photon Energy Engineering B.V. (PEE BV)	100%	NL	Full Cons.	PENV
4	Photon Energy Operations N.V. (PEO NV)	100%	NL	Full Cons.	PENV
5	Photon Energy Australia Pty Ltd.	100%	AUS	Full Cons.	PENV
6	Gunning Solar Farm Pty. Ltd. (former Photon Energy Generation Australia Pty. Ltd.)	49%	AUS	Equity	PENV
7	Photon Energy AUS SPV 1 Pty. Ltd.	100%	AUS	Full Cons.	PENV
8	Photon Energy AUS SPV 2 Pty. Ltd.	100%	AUS	Full Cons.	PENV
9	Photon Energy AUS SPV 3 Pty. Ltd.	100%	AUS	Full Cons.	PENV
10	Photon Energy AUS SPV 4 Pty. Ltd.	100%	AUS	Full Cons.	PENV
11	Suntop Stage 2 Solar farm Pty. Ltd. (former Mumbil Solar Farm Pty. Ltd.)	25%	AUS	Equity	PENV
12	Photon Energy AUS SPV 6 Pty. Ltd.	51%	AUS	Equity	PENV
13	Gunnedah Solar Farm Pty. Ltd. (former Photon Energy AUS SPV 7 Pty. Ltd.)	25%	AUS	Equity	PENV
14	Suntop Solar Farm Pty. Ltd. (former Photon Energy AUS SPV 8 Pty. Ltd.)	25%	AUS	Equity	PENV
15	Photon Energy AUS SPV 9 Pty. Ltd.	51%	AUS	Equity	PENV
16	Maryvale Solar Farm Pty. Ltd. (former Photon Energy AUS SPV 10 Pty. Ltd.)	25%	AUS	Equity	PENV
17	Photon Energy Operations Australia Pty.Ltd.	100%	AUS	Full Cons.	PEONV
18	Photon Energy Engineering Australia Pty Ltd	100%	AUS	Full Cons.	PEEBV
19	Global Investment Protection AG (GIP AG)	100%	СН	Full Cons.	PENV
20	ALFEMO AG	100%	СН	Full Cons.	PENV
21	KORADOL AG	100%	СН	Full Cons.	PENV
22	Photon Energy Corporate Services CZ s.r.o.	100%	CZ	Full Cons.	PENV
23	Photon SPV 1 s.r.o.	100%	CZ	Full Cons.	PENV
24	Photon Energy Operations CZ s.r.o. (PEOCZ) <sup>1</sup>	100%	CZ	Full Cons.	PEONV
25	Photon Energy Control s.r.o.	100%	CZ	Full Cons.	PEOCZ
26	Photon Energy Technology CEE s.r.o.	100%	CZ	Full Cons.	PEEBV
27	Photon Water Technology s.r.o.	65%	CZ	Full Cons.	PENV
28	Photon Energy Solutions s.r.o.	100%	CZ	Full Cons.	PENV
29	Photon Energy Projects s.r.o. (PEP)	100%	CZ	Full Cons.	PENV
30	Photon Energy Cardio s.r.o.	100%	CZ	Full Cons.	PEOCZ
31	The Special One s.r.o.	100%	CZ	Full Cons.	PENV
32	Charles Bridge Services s.r.o.	100%	CZ	Full Cons.	PENV
33	Photon Energy Finance Europe GmbH	100%	DE	Full Cons.	PENV
34	Photon Energy Corporate Services DE GmbH	100%	DE	Full Cons.	PENV
35	Photon Energy Engineering Europe GmbH	100%	DE	Full Cons.	PEEBV
36	EcoPlan 2 s.r.o.	100%	SK	Full Cons.	PENV
37	EcoPlan 3 s.r.o.	100%	SK	Full Cons.	PENV
38	Fotonika, s.r.o.	100%	SK	Full Cons.	PENV
39	Photon SK SPV 1 s.r.o.	50%	SK	Equity	PENV
40	Photon SK SPV 2 s.r.o.	100%	SK	Full Cons.	PENV
41	Photon SK SPV 3 s.r.o.	100%	SK	Full Cons.	PENV
42	Solarpark Myjava s.r.o.	50%	SK	Equity	PENV
43	Solarpark Polianka s.r.o.	50%	SK	Equity	PENV
44	SUN4ENERGY ZVB, s.r.o.	100%	SK	Full Cons.	PENV
45	SUN4ENERGY ZVC, s.r.o.	100%	SK	Full Cons.	PENV
46	ATS Energy, s.r.o.	100%	SK	Full Cons.	PENV
47	Photon Energy Operations SK s.r.o.	100%	SK	Full Cons.	PEONV
48	Photon Energy HU SPV 1 Kft. b.a	100%	HU	Full Cons.	Alfemo AG
49	Fertod Napenergia-Termelo Kft.	100%	HU	Full Cons.	Alfemo AG
50	Photon Energy Operations HU Kft.	100%	HU	Full Cons.	PEONV
51	Photon Energy Solutions HU Kft.	100%	HU	Full Cons.	PENV
52	Future Solar Energy Kft	100%	HU	Full Cons.	Alfemo AG
53	Montagem Befektetési Kft.	100%	HU	Full Cons.	Alfemo AG
54	Solarkit Befektetesi Kft.	100%	HU	Full Cons.	Alfemo AG
55	Energy499 Invest Kft.	100%	HU	Full Cons.	Alfemo AG
56	SunCollector Kft.	100%	HU	Full Cons.	Alfemo AG
57	Green-symbol Invest Kft.	100%	HU	Full Cons.	Alfemo AG
58	Ekopanel Befektetési és Szolgaltató Kft.	100%	HU	Full Cons.	Alfemo AG
59	Onyx-sun Kft.	100%	HU	Full Cons.	Alfemo AG
60	Tataimmo Kft	100%	HU	Full Cons.	Alfemo AG
61	Öreghal Kft.	100%	HU	Full Cons.	Alfemo AG

	Name	% of share capital held by the holding company	Country of registration	Consolid. method	Legal Owner
62	European Sport Contact Kft.	100%	HU	Full Cons.	Alfemo AG
63	ALFEMO Alpha Kft.	100%	HU	Full Cons.	Alfemo AG
64	ALFEMO Beta Kft.	100%	HU	Full Cons.	Alfemo AG
65	ALFEMO Gamma Kft.	100%	HU	Full Cons.	Alfemo AG
66	Archway Solar Kft.	100%	HU	Full Cons.	PENV
67	Barbican Solar Kft.	100%	HU	Full Cons.	Alfemo AG
68	Belsize Solar Kft.	100%	HU	Full Cons.	Alfemo AG
69	Blackhorse Solar Kft.	100%	HU	Full Cons.	Alfemo AG
70	Caledonian Solar Kft	100%	HU	Full Cons.	Alfemo AG
71	Camden Solar Kft	100%	HU	Full Cons.	Alfemo AG
72	Hampstead Solar Kft.	100%	HU	Full Cons.	Alfemo AG
73	Ráció Master Oktatási	100%	HU	Full Cons.	Alfemo AG
74	P&P Solar Immo Kft.	35%	HU	Equity	Alfemo AG
75	Photon Energy Peru S.C.A.	99%	PE	Full Cons.	GIP AG

CZ = Czech Republic, SK = Slovak Republic, NL = Netherlands, CH = Switzerland, AUS = Australia, HU= Hungary

Other consolidated subsidiaries (special purpose entities) exist as at 31 December 2019, where the holding company has control but does not have any ownership or direct voting rights. The following entities are included:

	Name	% of Consoli- dated share	% of Ownership share	Country of registration	Legal Owner
1	Kaliope s.r.o.	100%	0%	CZ	RL
2	Photon SPV 3 s.r.o.	100%	0%	CZ	RL
3	Photon SPV 8 s.r.o.	100%	0%	CZ	RL
4	Exit 90 SPV s.r.o.	100%	0%	CZ	RL
5	Photon SPV 4 s.r.o.	100%	0%	CZ	RL
6	Photon SPV 6 s.r.o.	100%	0%	CZ	RL
7	Onyx Energy s.r.o.	100%	0%	CZ	RL
8	Onyx Energy projekt II s.r.o.	100%	0%	CZ	RL
9	Photon SPV 10 s.r.o.	100%	0%	CZ	RL

CZ = Czech Republic

100% share in the above entities is owned by Raiffeisen – Leasing s.r.o. ("RL"). Although those companies are legally owned by RL, the Group consolidates them under IFRS rules. Photon Ener-

gy N.V. is considered the beneficial owner as it is owner of economic benefits and is directly exposed to economic risks of those companies.

# 30. Subsequent events

#### Repayment of withholding amount from SPV 11

The decision of the court to find one of the subcontractors not guilty became into force on 5 February 2020. Subsequently the Court ruled on 27 February 2020 that the secured funds should be paid back to SPV 11, which happened in full on 24 March 2020.

#### Tata

In March the Companies subsidiary Photon Energy Solutions HU Kft. has completed and grid-connected all eight photovoltaic power plants with a total installed capacity of 5.4 MWp located in the municipality of Tata, Hungary expanding the Groups total proprietary portfolio of PV power plants to 57.1 MWp. The Company owns and operates the power plants through five wholly-owned project companies. Revaluation of the Group's proprietary portfolio according to IAS 16, will be recorded in the Group's Other Comprehensive Income in the Q1 2020 Consolidated Income Statement.

#### COVID-19

Starting beginning of March the Company has undertaken all necessary measures to ensure the continuation of its business including the provision of services to its customers during these challenging times. The Group closely monitors and analyses the situation and its policies reflect the measures adopted by the governments of the countries in which its business activities take place. Top priority is to make sure that the employees are

# 31. Contingent assets and liabilities

There are no significant contingent assets or liabilities that need to be disclosed.

safe and to mitigate any infection risk, while continuing its business activities at the highest level possible given external circumstances.

#### **Investment in Raygen**

In April the Company announced that it bought a minority equity stake in the Australian technology company RayGen Resources Pty Ltd. ('RayGen') in order to develop global renewable energy projects suitable for the roll-out of RayGen's unique solar power and electricity storage technology. Photon Energy will act as a project developer and EPC contractor and — where suitable — as an equity investor in the projects, which will be supplied by RayGen. The partnership includes the development of a 100 MWp/1000 MWh solar-plus-storage project.

#### New EPC contract in Australia

In April the Company's subsidiary Photon Energy Australia Pty Ltd. has won a tender by water utility North East Water (serving a population of 110,000 people in north-east Victoria) to act in the capacity of Principal Contractor to design, build and commission a 3 MWp solar power plant adjacent to its Waste Water Treatment Plant (WWTP) located in West Wodonga, Victoria, Australia. Photon Energy Australia Pty Ltd. is now progressing to the contracting stage with a tendered contract value of AUD 7.284 million (EUR 4.1 million, PLN 18.7 million).



# **Standalone Financial Statements**

for the year ended 31 December 2019

# Company balance sheet as at 31 December 2019

(before profit appropriation)

In thousand of EUR	Note	31 December 2019	31 December 2018
Fixed assets			
Financial fixed assets	<u>36</u>	25,661	44,720
Intangible assets	<u>36</u>	0	0
Long-term receivables		0	83
Total fixed assets		25,661	44,803
Current assets			
Trade and other receivables	38	9,336	10,834
Loans	<u>37</u>	42,043	8,042
Cash and cash equivalents	38	5,831	5,143
Total current assets		57,210	24,019
Total assets		82,871	68,822
Shareholders' equity	39		
Issued share capital		600	600
Share premium		36,871	36,871
Revaluation reserve		15,644	15,644
Hedging reserve		233	223
Currency translation reserve		929	698
Unappropriated result		7,526	8,417
Retained Earnings		-24,068	-32,857
Total equity		37,735	29,956
Non-current liabilities	40	41,394	33,625
Other loans		2,127	1,933
Other long-term liability		39,266	31,692
Current liabilities	41	3,742	5,241
Trade and other liabilities		726	1,759
Other loans		3,016	3,481
Total equity and liabilities		82,871	68,822

The notes on pages 125 to 136 are an integral part of these financial statements.

# Company income statement for the financial year ended 31 December 2019

In thousand of EUR	1 January – 31 December 2019	1 January – 31 December 2018
Share in results from participating interests, after taxation	4,533	5,480
Income from subsidiaries		0
Other result after taxation	2,993	2,937
Net result	7,526	8,417

The notes on pages 125 to 136 are an integral part of these financial statements.



# **Notes to the Company Financial Statements**

for the year ended 31 December 2019

# 32. General

The company financial statements are part of the 2019 financial statements of Photon Energy N.V. (the 'Company'). With reference to the income statement of the company, use has been

made of the exemption pursuant to Section 402 of Book 2 of the Netherlands Civil Code.

# 33. Principles for the measurement of assets and liabilities and the determination of the result

For setting the principles for the recognition and measurement of assets and liabilities and determination of the result for its company financial statements, the Company makes use of the option provided in section 2:362 (8) of the Netherlands Civil Code. This means that the principles for the recognition and measurement of assets and liabilities and determination of the result (hereinafter referred to as principles for recognition and measurement) of the company financial statements of the Company are the same as those applied for the consolidated EU-IFRS financial statements. Participating interests, over which significant influence is exercised, are stated on the basis of the

equity method. These consolidated EU-IFRS financial statements are prepared according to the standards laid down by the International Accounting Standards Board and endorsed by the European Union (hereinafter referred to as EU-IFRS). Please see pages 23 to 37 for a description of these principles. The share in the result of participating interests consists of the share of the Company in the result of these participating interests. Results on transactions, where the transfer of assets and liabilities between the Company and its participating interests and mutually between participating interests themselves are not incorporated insofar as they can be deemed to be unrealised.

# 34. Financial fixed assets

In thousand of EUR	31 December 2019	31 December 2018
Participating interests in group companies	25,661	44,507
	25,661	44,507

# The movements of the financial fixed assets can be shown as follows:

In thousand of EUR	Note	Participating interests in group companies	Total
Closing balance 31 December 2018		44,507	44,507
Restatement	36	213	213
Restated balance 31 December 2018		44,720	44,720
Revaluation reserve change	36		
Share in result of participating interests	43	4,533	4,533
Set-up of new entities	36		
Excess cash correction	36		
Other movements	36	387	387
Share in foreign currency translation differences in participating interest	36	231	231
Dividend payment	36		
Derivatives	36	11	11
Sale of subsidiaries		-30,622	-30,622
Balance at 31 December		19,260	19,260
Allowances (booked against loan receivables)	36	6,401	6,401
Final balance at 31 December 2019		25,661	25,661

During 2019, Company performed restatement of the 2018 value of the participating interest. This was due to not proper recording of the net assets value of the loss-making participating interest. The correction of the wrongly booked values impacted

of the value of the participating interest by EUR 213 thousand (increase), retained earnings by EUR 8,049 thousand (decrease) and the allowances for the loans receivables from the participat-

ing interest by EUR 8,483 thousand (increase). The adjustment did not have any impact on the 2018 result of the Company.

2019

A participating legal Company is under Dutch law a participation which exercises significant influence over the operating and financial policies (hereinafter: participation), valued using the equity method. This method means that the carrying amount of the investment is increased or decreased by the share in the results and changes in equity of the associate, less the dividend from the participation. The carrying amount, the share in the

results and changes in equity are determined according to the principles of the holding.

Therefore the direct changes in equity in the participations of PE NV are included in the standalone financial statements of the Company.

The direct equity movements of the subsidiaries of PE NV consist of:

- Revaluation of assets valued at fair value in the participations (decrease of value of assets)
- Foreign currency translation differences in the participations
- Effective portion of hedging derivatives in the participations

#### The Company, with statutory seat in Amsterdam, is the holding company and has the following financial interests:

	Name	% of share capital held by the holding company	Country of registration	Consolid. method	Legal Owner
1	Photon Energy N.V. (PENV)	Holding	NL	Full Cons.	-
2	Photon Directors B.V.	100%	NL NL	Full Cons.	PENV
3	Photon Energy Engineering B.V. (PEE BV)	100%	NL	Full Cons.	PENV
4	Photon Energy Operations N.V. (PEO NV)	100%	NL	Full Cons.	PENV
5	Photon Remediation Technology N.V.	100%	NL	Full Cons.	KORADOL
6	Photon Energy Australia Pty Ltd.	100%	AUS	Full Cons.	PENV
7	Gunning Solar Farm Pty. Ltd. (former Photon Energy Generation Australia Pty. Ltd.)	49%	AUS	Equity	PENV
8	Photon Energy AUS SPV 1 Pty. Ltd.	100%	AUS	Full Cons.	PENV
9	Photon Energy AUS SPV 2 Pty. Ltd.	100%	AUS	Full Cons.	PENV
10	Photon Energy AUS SPV 3 Pty. Ltd.	100%	AUS	Full Cons.	PENV
11	Photon Energy AUS SPV 4 Pty. Ltd.	100%	AUS	Full Cons.	PENV
12	Suntop Stage 2 Solar Farm Pty. Ltd. (former Mumbil Solar Farm Pty. Ltd.)	25%	AUS	Equity	PENV
13	Photon Energy AUS SPV 6 Pty. Ltd.	51%	AUS	Equity	PENV
14	Maryvale Solar Farm Pty. Ltd. (former Photon Energy AUS SPV 10 Pty. Ltd.)	25%	AUS	Equity	PENV
15	Photon Energy Operations Australia Pty.Ltd.	100%	AUS	Full Cons.	PEONV
16	Photon Energy Engineering Australia Pty Ltd	100%	AUS	Full Cons.	PEEBV
17	Global Investment Protection AG (GIP)	100%	CH	Full Cons.	PENV
18	ALFEMO AG (ALFEMO)	100%	СН	Full Cons.	PENV
19	KORADOL AG (KORADOL)	100%	CH	Full Cons.	PENV
20	Photon Energy Corporate Services CZ s.r.o.	100%	CZ	Full Cons.	PENV
21	Photon SPV 1 s.r.o.	100%	CZ	Full Cons.	PENV
22	Photon SPV 11 s.r.o.	100%	CZ	Full Cons.	KORADOL
23	Photon Energy Operations CZ s.r.o. (PEOCZ) <sup>1</sup>	100%	CZ	Full Cons.	PEONV
24	Photon Energy Control s.r.o.	100%	CZ	Full Cons.	PEOCZ
25	Photon Energy Technology CEE s.r.o.	100%	CZ	Full Cons.	PEEBV
26	Photon Water Technology s.r.o.	65%	CZ	Full Cons.	PENV
27	Photon Remediation Technology Europe s.r.o.	100%	CZ	Full Cons.	PE NV
28	Photon Energy Solutions s.r.o.	100%	CZ	Full Cons.	PENV
29	Photon Energy Projects s.r.o. (PEP)	100%	CZ	Full Cons.	PENV
30	Photon Energy Cardio s.r.o.	100%	CZ	Full Cons.	PEOCZ
31	The Special One s.r.o.	100%	CZ	Full Cons.	PENV
32	Photon Energy Technology EU GmbH	100%	DE	Full Cons.	PENV
33	Photon Energy Corporate Services DE GmbH	100%	DE	Full Cons.	PENV
34	Photon Energy Engineering Europe GmbH	100%	DE	Full Cons.	PEEBV
35	EcoPlan 2 s.r.o.	100%	SK	Full Cons.	PENV
36	EcoPlan 3 s.r.o.	100%	SK	Full Cons.	PENV
37	Fotonika s.r.o.	100%	SK	Full Cons.	PENV
38	Photon SK SPV 1 s.r.o.	50%	SK	Equity	PENV
39	Photon SK SPV 2 s.r.o.	100%	SK	Full Cons.	PENV
40	Photon SK SPV 3 s.r.o.	100%	SK	Full Cons.	PENV
41	Solarpark Myjava s.r.o.	50%	SK	Equity	PENV
42	Solarpark Polianka s.r.o.	50%	SK	Equity	PENV
43	SUN4ENERGY ZVB s.r.o.	100%	SK	Full Cons.	PENV
44	SUN4ENERGY ZVC s.r.o.	100%	SK	Full Cons.	PENV
45	ATS Energy, s.r.o.	100%	SK	Full Cons.	PENV

	Name	% of share capital held by the holding company	Country of registration	Consolid. method	Legal Owner
46	Photon Energy Operations SK s.r.o.	100%	SK	Full Cons.	PEONV
47	Photon Energy HU SPV 1 Kft. b.a	100%	HU	Full Cons.	ALFEMO
48	Fertod Napenergia-Termelo Kft.	100%	HU	Full Cons.	ALFEMO
49	Photon Energy Operations HU Kft.	100%	HU	Full Cons.	PEONV
50	Photon Energy Solutions HU Kft.	100%	HU	Full Cons.	PENV
51	Future Solar Energy Kft	100%	HU	Full Cons.	ALFEMO
52	Montagem Befektetési Kft.	100%	HU	Full Cons.	ALFEMO
53	Solarkit Befektetesi Kft.	100%	HU	Full Cons.	ALFEMO
54	Energy499 Invest Kft.	100%	HU	Full Cons.	ALFEMO
55	SunCollector Kft.	100%	HU	Full Cons.	ALFEMO
56	Green-symbol Invest Kft.	100%	HU	Full Cons.	ALFEMO
57	Ekopanel Befektetési és Szolgaltató Kft.	100%	HU	Full Cons.	ALFEMO
58	Onyx-sun Kft.	100%	HU	Full Cons.	ALFEMO
59	Tataimmo Kft	100%	HU	Full Cons.	ALFEMO
60	Öreghal Kft.	100%	HU	Full Cons.	ALFEMO
61	European Sport Contact Kft.	100%	HU	Full Cons.	ALFEMO
62	ALFEMO Alpha Kft.	100%	HU	Full Cons.	ALFEMO
63	ALFEMO Beta Kft.	100%	HU	Full Cons.	ALFEMO
64	ALFEMO Gamma Kft.	100%	HU	Full Cons.	ALFEMO
65	Archway Solar Kft.	100%	HU	Full Cons.	PENV
66	Barbican Solar Kft.	100%	HU	Full Cons.	ALFEMO
67	Belsize Solar Kft.	100%	HU	Full Cons.	ALFEMO
68	Blackhorse Solar Kft.	100%	HU	Full Cons.	ALFEMO
69	Caledonian Solar Kft	100%	HU	Full Cons.	ALFEMO
70	Camden Solar Kft	100%	HU	Full Cons.	ALFEMO
71	Hampstead Solar Kft.	100%	HU	Full Cons.	ALFEMO
72	Ráció Master Oktatási	100%	HU	Full Cons.	ALFEMO
73	P&P Solar Immo Kft.	33,52%	HU	Equity	ALFEMO
74	Aligoté Kereskedelmi és Szolgáltató Kft.	100%	HU	Full Cons.	ALFEMO
75	MEDIÁTOR Ingatlanközvetítő és Hirdető Kft.	100%	HU	Full Cons.	ALFEMO
76	PROMA Mátra Ingatlanfejlesztési Kft.	100%	HU	Full Cons.	ALFEMO
77	Optisolar Kft.	100%	HU	Full Cons.	ALFEMO
78	Ladány Solar Alpha Kft.	100%	HU	Full Cons.	PEP
79	Ladány Solar Beta Kft.	100%	HU	Full Cons.	PEP
80	Ladány Solar Gamma Kft.	100%	HU	Full Cons.	PEP
81	Ladány Solar Delta Kft.	100%	HU	Full Cons.	PEP
82	ÉGÉSPART Energiatermelő és Szolgáltató Kft	100%	HU	Full Cons.	ALFEMO
83	ZEMPLÉNIMPEX Kereskedelmi és Szolgáltató Kf	100%	HU	Full Cons.	ALFEMO
84	ZUGGÓ-DŰLŐ Energiatermelő és Szolgáltató Kft	100%	HU	Full Cons.	ALFEMO
85	Ventiterra Környezetgazdálkodási és Szolgáltató Kft.	100%	HU	Full Cons.	ALFEMO
86	VENTITERRA ALFA Kft.	100%	HU	Full Cons.	ALFEMO
87	VENTITERRA BETA Kft.	100%	HU	Full Cons.	ALFEMO
88	EKTALION INVESTMENTS S.A.	100%	PL	Full Cons.	PE NV
89	Photon Energy Peru S.C.A.	99%	PE	Full Cons.	GIP
90	PE SOLAR TECHNOLOGY LTD.	100%	UK	Full Cons.	PENV

CZ = Czech Republic, SK = Slovak Republic, NL = Netherlands, CH = Switzerland, AUS = Australia, HU=Hungary

The company booked an allowance for the subsidiaries with negative equity in the amount of EUR 6,401 thousand against the outstanding loan receivables from those entities.

The total amount invested into capital contributions (by capitalization of entity's receivables from subsidiaries or issuance of a new share via retained earnings) to subsidiaries in 2019 amounted to EUR 0 thousand (2018: EUR 1,267 thousand). In 2019, a correction of the opening balance of the financial investment of EUR 213 thousand was done.

Increase of value resulting from the revaluation of subsidiaries amounted to EUR 11 thousand. Total result from participations resulted in profit of EUR 4,533 thousand. Other movement in

the subsidiaries 387 amounted to EUR. During 2019, Company sold subsidiaries with the total value of EUR 30,622 EUR.

# 2019 developments

During 2019, Photon Energy N.V. (directly or via its subsidiaries) incorporated the following subsidiaries:

- PE SOLAR TECHNOLOGY LTD
- Ventiterra Alfa Környezetgazdálkodási és Szolgáltató Kft.
- Ventiterra Beta Környezetgazdálkodási és Szolgáltató Kft.

During 2018, Photon Energy N.V. (directly or via its subsidiaries) incorporated the following subsidiaries:

- Archway Solar Kft.
- Barbican Solar Kft.
- Belsize Solar Kft.
- Blackhorse Solar Kft.
- Caledonian Solar Kft
- Camden Solar Kft
- Hampstead Solar Kft.

# 9.2 Acquisitions of subsidiaries

During 2019, Photon Energy N.V. (directly or via its subsidiaries) acquired the following entities:

- Aligoté Kereskedelmi és Szolgáltató Kft.Barbican Solar Kft.
- MEDIÁTOR Ingatlanközvetítő és Hirdető Kft.
- PROMA Mátra Ingatlanfejlesztési Kft..
- Optisolar Kft.
- Ladány Solar Alpha Kft.
- Ladány Solar Beta Kft..
- Ladány Solar Gamma Kft.
- Ladány Solar Delta Kft.
- ÉGÉSPART Energiatermelő és Szolgáltató Kft
- ZEMPLÉNIMPEX Kereskedelmi és Szolgáltató Kft
- ZUGGÓ-DŰLŐ Energiatermelő és Szolgáltató Kft
- Ventiterra Környezetgazdálkodási és Szolgáltató Kft.
- Ektalion Investments S.A.

The total consideration paid for the acquiring of the Hungarian entities' shares equaled to EUR 2,022 thousands. Detail of the acquired entities as follows:

In thousand of EUR	
Long-term assets	8,583
Current assets	232
Cash	143
Short-term liabilities	7,451
Resources	145
L-T liabilities	1,162

The above mentioned entities incurred a profit of EUR 8 thousands.

#### 2018 developments

During 2018, Photon Energy N.V. (directly or via its subsidiaries) incorporated the following subsidiaries:

- Archway Solar Kft.
- Barbican Solar Kft.
- Belsize Solar Kft.
- Blackhorse Solar Kft.
- Caledonian Solar Kft
- Camden Solar Kft
- Hampstead Solar Kft.

During 2018, Photon Energy N.V. (directly or via its subsidiaries) acquired the following entities:

- Future Solar Energy Kft
- Montagem Befektetési Kft
- Solarkit Befektetesi Kft.
- Energy499 Invest Kft.
- SunCollector Kft.
- Green-symbol Invest Kft.
- Ekopanel Befektetési és Szolgaltató Kft.
- Onyx-sun Kft.
- Tataimmo Kft
- Öreghal Kft.
- European Sport Contact Kft.
- Ráció Master Kft.
- P&P Solar Immo Kft.
- ALFEMO Alpha Kft..
- ALFEMO Beta Kft.
- ALFEMO Gamma Kft.
- Photon Energy Peru S.C.A.

The following SPVs were renamed during 2018:

- Photon Energy AUS SPV 5 was renamed to SUNTOP Stage 2 Solar Farm Pty Ltd.
- Photon Energy Generation Pty Ltd was renamed to GUNNING SOLAR FARM Pty Ltd.
- Photon Energy AUS SPV 7 Pty Ltd was renamed to GUNNEDAH SOLAR FARM Pty Ltd
- Photon Energy AUS SPV 8 Pty Ltd was renamed to SUN-TOP SOLAR FARM Pty Ltd
- Photon Energy AUS SPV 10 Pty Ltd was renamed to MARYVALE SOLAR FARM Pty Ltd

In January 2018, the Group has signed an agreement for the joint development of five of its utility scale solar projects with a total capacity of 1.14 GWp in New South Wales, Australia with Canadian Solar. Photon Energy's utility scale solar project pipeline, the largest pipeline in Australia, includes the 316 MWp project in Gunning as well as four projects co-developed with a local partner, namely the 178 MWp project in Mumbil, the 165 MWp project in Gunnedah, the 286 MWp project in Suntop and the 196 MWp project in Maryvale, all of which will be further codeveloped with Canadian Solar. Canadian Solar has acquired a

51% shareholding in all five project companies. Post-transaction, Photon Energy NV retains a 49% stake in the Gunning project and 24.99% stakes in the four other projects.

# 35. Loans

In thousand of EUR	31 December 2019	31 December 2018
Loans provided	42,043	8,042
	42,043	8,042

#### Movement schedule for loans allowances:

In thousand of EUR	
Closing balance 31 December 2018	7,663
Restatement	8,483
Restated balance 31 December 2018	16,146
Allowance booked in 2019	6,401
Closing balance 31 December 2019	22,546

During 2019, Company performed restatement of the 2018 value of the participating interest. This was due to not proper recording of the net assets value of the loss-making participating interest. The correction of the wrongly booked values impacted of the value of the participating interest by EUR 213 thousand (increase), retained earnings by EUR 8,049 thousand (decrease) and the allowances for the loans receivables from the participating interest by EUR 8,483 thousand (increase). The adjustment did not have any impact on the 2018 result of the Company.

caused by provision of new funds during the year to the subsidiaries. Interest charged by PENV to its subsidiaries is 3% and the loans have a short-term character. Allowances for loans receivables were booked for the entities with a negative equity.

The balance of loans provided consists of the loans provided primarily to the companies within the Group and its increase is

# 36. Current assets

In thousand of EUR	31 December 2019	31 December 2018
Trade and other receivables	9,336	10,834
Cash	5,831	5,143
	15,167	15,977

# 37. Shareholders' equity

# 37.1 Reconciliation of movement in capital and reserves

In thousand of EUR	Issued share capital	Share premium	Currency translation reserve	Hedging reserve	Revaluation reserve	Retained earnings	Unappropri- ated result	Total equity
Balance at 1 January 2018	600	36,871	1,155	110	16,049	-25,309	-788	28,689
Revaluation of assets in participating interest	-	-	-	-	-405	-	-	-405
Foreign currency translation differences in participating interest	-	-	-458	-	-	-	-	-458
Transfer to retained earnings	-	-	-	-	-	-788	788	0
Release of provision to financial investments	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Derivatives				113				113
Correction of RE previous period	-	-	-	-	-	22	-	22
Capital increase of the subsidiaries	-	-	-	-	-	1,267	-	1,267
Actual result	-	-	-	-	-	-	8,417	8,417
Balance at 31 December 2018	600	36,871	698	223	15,644	-24,808	8,417	37,645
Restatement	-	-	-	-	-	-8,049	-	-8,049
Restated balance at 31 December 2018	600	36,871	698	223	15,644	-32,857	8,417	29,596
Balance at 1 January 2019	600	36,871	698	223	15,644	-32,857	8,417	29,596
Foreign currency translation differences in participating interest	-	-	231	-	-	-	-	231
Transfer to retained earnings	-	-		-		8,417	-8,417	-
Release of provision to financial investments	-	-	-	-	-	-		-
Derivatives				10				10
Other movements	-	-	-	-	-	372		372
Actual result	-	-		-		-	7,526	7,526
Balance at 31 December 2019	600	36,871	929	233	15,644	-24,069	7,526	37,735

# 37.2 Share capital and share premium

#### **Ordinary shares**

The Company's share capital is EUR 600,000 divided into 60,000,000 shares with a nominal value of EUR 0.01 each. The share capital is fully paid-up. Each of the 60,000,000 shares represent one vote at the General Meeting.

The holders of ordinary shares (except of Treasury shares) are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time and are entitled to one vote per share at shareholders' meetings of the Company.

#### Reserves

Reserves of the Company consist of the revaluation reserve, the currency translation reserve and the hedging reserve.

The revaluation reserve arises on the revaluation of photovoltaic power plant owned by the participation(s) and it amounted to EUR 15,644 thousand as of 31 December 2019 (31 December 2018: EUR 15,644 thousand).

Currency translation reserve includes all foreign translation exchange differences in the participations and amounted to a profit EUR 929 thousand as of 31 December 2019 (31 December 2018: EUR 698 thousand).

The hedging reserve includes results from hedging derivatives in the participations and amounted to a profit of EUR 233 thousand in 2019 (2018: EUR 223 thousand).

#### **Unappropriated result**

To the General Meeting of Shareholders the following appropriation of the result 2019 will be proposed: the profit of EUR 7,526 thousand to be transferred and added to the retained earnings item in the shareholders' equity.

### Movement schedule of retained earnings:

In thousand of EUR	
Closing balance 31 December 2018	-24,808
Restatement	-8,049
Restated balance 31 December 2018	-32,857
Movements in 2019	8,789
Closing balance 31 December 2019	-24,069

During 2019, Company performed restatement of the 2018 value of the participating interest. This was due to not proper recording of the net assets value of the loss-making participating interest. The correction of the wrongly booked values impacted of the value of the participating interest by EUR 213 thousand (increase), retained earnings by EUR 8,049 thousand (decrease) and the allowances for the loans receivables from the participating interest by EUR 8,483 thousand (increase). The adjustment did not have any impact on the 2018 result of the Company.

In thousand of EUR	31 December 2019	31 December 2018
Group equity	37,843	29,779
Non-attributable losses of financial interest	-25	-143
Difference in results	0	0
Minority interest of third parties in subsidiary:		
Non-controlling interest	-83	-40
Shareholders' equity (company)	37,735	29,596
Group result	-683	530
Income from subsidiaries	8,252	7,907
Minority interest of third parties in result:		
Non-controlling interest	-43	-20
Net result (company)	7,526	8,417

# 38. Long-term liabilities

In thousand of EUR	31 December 2019	31 December 2018
Loans	2,128	1,933
Other long-term liabilities	39,266	31,692
	41,394	33,625

Long-term loan was provided by a group entity (EUR 2,128 thousand). Other long-term liabilities include a EUR bond issued

in 2017 (EUR 37,500 thousand) and a CZK bond issued in December 2016 (EUR 1,766 thousand).

# 39. Current liabilities

In thousand of EUR	31 December 2019	31 December 2018
Loans	3,016	3,481
Trade payables	157	86
Accruals and deferred income	431	580
Other payables	138	1,094
	3,742	5,241

All loans included in the above table are provided by the subsidiaries of the entity.

Remaining other payables consisted of Company's liabilities from VAT, liabilities towards employees, advances or resulting from the cash transfers within the Group.

# 40. Financial instruments

#### 40.1 General

The Group has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments:

- Credit risk.
- Liquidity risk.
- Market risk.

In the notes to the consolidated financial statements information is included about the Group's exposure to each of the above risks, the Group's objectives, policies and processes for measuring and managing risk, and the Group's management of capital.

These risks, objectives, policies and processes for measuring and managing risk, and the management of capital also apply to the company financial statements of Photon Energy N.V.

No derivative financial instruments are being used at parent company level.

#### 40.2 Fair value

The fair value of the financial instruments stated on the balance sheet, including cash at bank and in hand and current liabilities, is close to the carrying amount.

# 41. Share in results from participating interests

An amount of EUR 4,533 thousand (profit) of share in results from participating interests relates to group companies (2018: profit of EUR 5,480 thousand).

# 42. Fees of the auditor

With reference to Section 2:382a(1) and (2) of the Netherlands Civil Code, the following fees for the financial year have been charged by Grant Thornton Accountants en Adviseurs B.V. to the Company in 2019:

# 2019:

In thousand of EUR	Grant Thornton Accountants en Adviseurs B.V.	Other Grant Thornton member firms and affiliates	Total
Statutory audit of annual accounts	33	-	33
	33	-	33

With reference to Section 2:382a(1) and (2) of the Netherlands Civil Code, the following fees for the financial year 2018 have been charged by Grant Thornton Accountants en Adviseurs B.V. to the Company:

# 2018:

In thousand of EUR	Grant Thornton Accountants en Adviseurs B.V.	Other Grant Thornton member firms and affiliates	Total
Statutory audit of annual accounts	33	-	33
	33	-	33

# 43. Related parties

# 43.1 Transactions with key management personnel

# Key management personnel compensation

Key management personnel did not obtain any compensation for their activity for PE NV in 2019.

# Key management personnel and director

The directors of the Company control 86.57% of the voting shares of the Company. The Directors hold positions in other

Amsterdam, 15 April 2020

The Board of Directors:

group entities that result in having control or significant influence over the financial or operating policies of these entities.

#### **Emoluments of directors and supervisory directors**

No emoluments, including pension obligations as intended in Section 2:383(1) of the Netherlands Civil Code were charged in the financial period to the Company.

\_\_\_\_

Georg Hotar, Director Michael Gartner, Director





# Other information

# I. Provisions in the Articles of Association governing the appropriation of profit

According to article 20 of the company's Articles of Association, the profit is at the disposal of the General Meeting of Shareholders, which can allocate the profit wholly or partly to the general or specific reserve funds.

The Company can only make payments to the shareholders and other parties entitled to the distributable profit for the amount the shareholders' equity are greater than the paid-up and called-up part of the capital plus the legally required reserves.

# II. Subsidiaries

The Company has subsidiaries in the Czech Republic, Slovak Republic, Germany, Hungary, Switzerland, Netherlands and Australia. For the list of all subsidiaries refer to the Note 30 of the Consolidated financial statements.

# III. Independent auditor's report

The independent auditor's report is set forth on the next pages.



To: the General Meeting of Shareholders of Photon Energy N.V.

**INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT** 

Grant Thornton Accountants en Adviseurs B.V. Flemingweg 10 P.O. Box 2259 2400 CG Alphen aan den Rijn The Netherlands

T 088 - 676 90 00 F 088 - 676 90 10 www.qt.nl

# A. Report on the audit of the financial statements

# **Audit Opinion**

We have audited the accompanying financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2019 of Photon Energy N.V., based in Amsterdam, as set out on pages 58 to 138. The financial statements include the consolidated financial statements and the company financial statements.

# In our opinion:

- the accompanying consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of Photon Energy N.V. as at December 31, 2019, and of its result and its cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2019 in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union (EU-IFRS) and with Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code.
- the accompanying company financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of Photon Energy N.V. as at December 31, 2019, and of its result in accordance with Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code.

The consolidated financial statements comprise:

- the consolidated statement of financial position as at December 31, 2019;
- the following statements for the year ended December 31, 2019: the consolidated income statement, the consolidated statements of comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows; and
- the notes comprising a summary of the significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

The company financial statements comprise:

- the company balance sheet as at December 31, 2019;
- 2 the company profit and loss account for the year ended December 31, 2019; and
- 3 the notes comprising a summary of the accounting policies and other explanatory information.



### **Basis for Our Opinion**

We conducted our audit in accordance with Dutch law, including the Dutch Standards on Auditing. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the "Our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements" section of our report.

We are independent of Photon Energy N.V. in accordance with the Verordening inzake de onafhankelijkheid van accountants bij assurance-opdrachten (ViO, Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants, a regulation with respect to independence) and other relevant independence regulations in the Netherlands. Furthermore we have complied with the Verordening gedrags- en beroepsregels accountants (VGBA, Dutch Code of Ethics).

We believe the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

### B. Report on the other information included in the annual report

In addition to the financial statements and our auditor's report thereon, the annual report contains other information, that consists of:

- the Director's report;
- other information as required by Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code.

Based on the following procedures performed, we conclude that the other information:

- is consistent with the financial statements and does not contain material misstatements;
- contains the information as required by Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code.

We have read the other information. Based on our knowledge and understanding obtained through our audit of the financial statements or otherwise, we have considered whether the other information contains material misstatements.

By performing these procedures, we comply with the requirements of Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code and the Dutch Standard 720. The scope of the procedures performed is substantially less than the scope of those performed in our audit of the financial statements.

Management is responsible for the preparation of the management board's report in accordance with Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code and other information as required by Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code.

# C. Description of responsibilities regarding the financial statements

Responsibilities of management and the supervisory board for the financial statements Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance with EU-IFRS and Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code. Furthermore management is responsible for such internal control as management



determines is necessary to enable the preparation of the financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

As part of the preparation of the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the company's ability to continue as a going concern. Based on the financial reporting framework mentioned, management should prepare the financial statements using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the company or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Management should disclose events and circumstances that may cast significant doubt on the company's ability to continue as a going concern in the financial statements .

#### Our Responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objective is to plan and perform the audit assignment in a manner that allows us to obtain sufficient and appropriate audit evidence for our opinion.

Our audit has been performed with a high, but not absolute, level of assurance, which means we may not have detected all errors and fraud during our audit.

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements. The materiality affects the nature, timing and extent of our audit procedures and the evaluation of the effect of identified misstatements on our opinion.

We have exercised professional judgement and have maintained professional skepticism throughout the audit, in accordance with Dutch Standards on Auditing, ethical requirements and independence requirements. Our audit included e.g.:

- Identifying and assessing the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, designing and performing audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtaining audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control;
- Obtaining an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design
  audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
  expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the company's internal control;
- Evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management;
- Concluding on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of
  accounting, and based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
  exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the company's
  ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists,
  we are required to draw attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the



financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report. However, future events or conditions may cause a company to cease to continue as a going concern;

- Evaluating the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures; and
- Evaluating whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Because we are ultimately responsible for the opinion, we are also responsible for directing, supervising and performing the group audit. In this respect we have determined the nature and extent of the audit procedures to be carried out for group entities. Decisive were the size and/or the risk profile of the group entities or operations. On this basis, we selected group entities for which an audit or review had to be carried out on the complete set of financial information or specific items.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant findings in internal control that we identify during our audit.

Amsterdam, 15 April 2020

Grant Thornton Accountants en Adviseurs B.V.

M.J.J. Welsink RA